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2     flexibility to adjust programming.  They may h ave

3     some flexibility to adjust the time.  That wou ld

4     be it.  But they would still have to perform t he

5     count.

6          Q.     Okay.  So am I correct in

7     understanding you to be saying that a program

8     statement will sometimes confer some discretio n on

9     an individual institution to set its own polic y?

10          A.     Set its own process.  It's not a

11     policy at the local level.

12          Q.     Okay.  What's the difference betw een a

13     process and a policy?

14          A.     The policy is nationwide.  At the

15     local level, there are procedures, and they c an't

16     contradict policy.

17          Q.     Where would a specific institutio n

18     document its own practices or procedures?

19          A.     They can do it via a memorandum o r an

20     institution supplement.

21          Q.     What's a memorandum?

22          A.     It's a memo that would outline

23     specific procedures on guidance that would ha ve to

24     be conducted locally to accomplish a task or to

25     accomplish an expectation.
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2          Q.     And what's an institution suppleme nt?

3          A.     An institution supplement is a

4     procedure, a set of practices that are identif ied

5     at an institution that are consistent with

6     national policy, but provide specific guidance  to

7     the local facility to where with -- where that

8     supplement is at.

9          Q.     So what's the difference between a

10     memorandum and an institution supplement?

11          A.     Well, the difference -- it's not

12     really a difference.  Normally, a memorandum

13     becomes a supplement or becomes part of a

14     supplement.

15                 The memorandum is generated to

16     identify specific intent.  And it has to also  be

17     in compliance with national policy, and it ha s to

18     incorporate the elements of the tasks that ne ed to

19     be accomplished or the expectation.  And then ,

20     from there, it will be provided to the staff.

21                 But sometimes they're generated a t

22     local level -- at the local level to be appli cable

23     for a specific time frame, for a specific

24     situation.

25                 There may be an adjustment that n eeds
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2          A.     It references in the Directives

3     Referenced, but let me take a look.

4                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews th e

5                  material provided.)

6     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

7          Q.     Maybe I can help you out.

8                 Why don't turn to Page 11 of the

9     document?

10          A.     Um-hum.

11                 Okay.

12          Q.     And based on what you see there, can

13     you answer my question, please?

14          A.     Yes, it does.

15          Q.     Okay.  Why does the BOP allow inm ates

16     in its custody to make social telephone calls ?

17          A.     We allow inmates in BOP custody t o

18     make social telephone calls because of the

19     importance of maintaining ties to the outside

20     world or the outside environments, to family

21     members, friends and appropriate associates.

22          Q.     Can you more fully describe what you

23     mean by the importance of those things?

24          A.     It's always important for an

25     incarcerated individual to maintain ties with
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2     family and friends to communicate.

3          Q.     Why is that?

4          A.     It's very important.  It's an

5     expectation to facilitate -- to assist them to

6     maintain those positive ties with family.  It also

7     helps them prepare them for reentry back into

8     society.

9          Q.     And why does the BOP allow prisone rs

10     in its custody to receive social visits?

11          A.     To maintain -- to further those f amily

12     ties, to fervor those positive connections wi th --

13     with family members, friends in the community  and

14     religious -- their religious' -- their religi ous

15     chaplains, attorneys, legal -- for legal purp oses

16     or other community ties that they need to

17     maintain.

18          Q.     And am I correct in thinking that  the

19     BOP does allow inmates, as a general matter, to

20     have physical contact during those visits?

21                 MR. CARTIER:  Objection: vague.

22     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

23          Q.     Can you answer the question, plea se?

24          A.     Would you repeat the question?

25                            - - -
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2                 (Whereupon, the court reporter rea d

3                  back the pertinent part of the

4                  record.)

5                            - - -

6                 THE WITNESS:  As a general matter,

7          visits are conducted to maintain close

8          ties with those outside the BOP facility,

9          with families and friends.  And the -- as

10          a general matter, they do maintain conta ct

11          with those individuals in the visiting

12          room unless concerns are -- are -- there

13          are concerns with the security of that

14          particular facility or the conduct of th e

15          visitor or the inmate in those situation s.

16     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

17          Q.     And why does the BOP allow inmate s,

18     when they are allowed to have physical contac t

19     during those video -- visits -- why does the BOP

20     allow that?

21                 MR. CARTIER:  I'll just object as

22          outside the scope.

23                 You can answer.

24                 THE WITNESS:  Once again, in

25          accordance with the -- pursuant to the
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2          policy, Bureau of Prisons encourages

3          visiting by family, friends and community

4          groups to maintain the morale of the

5          inmate and develop closer relationships

6          between the inmate and family members or

7          others in the community.

8     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

9          Q.     And am I correct in thinking that a

10     contact visit is -- would fall within that

11     purpose?

12          A.     Yes.

13          Q.     Okay.

14                 MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:  Can I mark thi s

15          next document as Exhibit 14?

16                 It's a program statement called

17          Special Housing Units.

18                           -  -  -

19                   (Whereupon, Federal Bureau of

20                    Prisons Program Statement Numb er

21                    5270.10, Special Housing Units ,

22                    was marked, for identification

23                    purposes, as Deposition Exhibi t

24                    Number 14.)

25                           -  -  -
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2          references Special Housing Unit program

3          statement.  The inmate discipline policy

4          also provides sanctions for inmates in

5          administrative detention.

6     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

7          Q.     Okay.  So there is no policy -- am  I

8     understanding correctly that there is no natio nal

9     policy that specifically says no prisoner in

10     administrative detention may receive more tha n

11     this number of telephone calls a month?

12          A.     Other than the Special Housing Un it

13     policy?

14          Q.     Yes, other than the Special Housi ng

15     Unit policy.

16                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews t he

17                  material provided.)

18                 THE WITNESS:  No.

19     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

20          Q.     Does that policy allow for discre tion

21     in either the frequency or duration of teleph one

22     calls that a prisoner in administrative deten tion

23     is allowed?

24          A.     The Special Housing Unit policy

25     references an inmate should receive a phone c all
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2     within the first 30 days of placement in Speci al

3     Housing Unit and within every 30 days thereaft er.

4          Q.     As you understand it, does that po licy

5     allow for some discretion in the frequency and

6     duration of those telephone calls?

7          A.     It allows that.

8          Q.     Okay.  Who makes those discretiona ry

9     decisions, then?

10          A.     The warden could make those decis ions.

11          Q.     Can anyone else make those decisi ons?

12          A.     It could be delegated at the loca l

13     level.  That I'm not -- that I'm not sure of.

14          Q.     Okay.  But -- but, to the best of  your

15     understanding, someone other than the warden might

16     be allowed to exercise some discretion in how  much

17     telephone access a prisoner in administrative

18     detention gets; is that right?

19          A.     It could be written in some local

20     process.

21          Q.     Can you describe some of the

22     circumstances under which that discretion mig ht be

23     exercised?

24          A.     Emergency situations that the inm ate

25     is experiencing, extenuating circumstances to  make
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2                    Telephone Regulations for

3                    Inmates, was marked, for

4                    identification purposes, as

5                    Deposition Exhibit Number 15.)

6                           -  -  -

7     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

8          Q.     Can you review that document?

9          A.     Sure.

10                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews t he

11                  material provided.)

12     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

13          Q.     What is this document?

14          A.     This document is the institution

15     supplement on telephone regulations that -- a t

16     Marion, and it's dated July 11, 2013.

17          Q.     Okay.  Can you turn to Page 7 of the

18     document and take a look at Section XI?

19                 If you want to just quickly revie w

20     those couple of paragraphs.

21                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews t he

22                  material provided.)

23                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

24     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

25          Q.     So how many telephone calls per m onth
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2     does a prisoner in administrative detention at  USP

3     Marion receive?

4          A.     Use of telephone -- let's see -- I 'm

5     sorry -- one 15-minute social phone call per

6     month.

7          Q.     Okay.  Does anyone at the facility

8     have discretion to provide a prisoner in

9     administrative detention with a longer telepho ne

10     call?

11          A.     Yes.

12          Q.     And with more frequent telephone

13     calls?

14          A.     Extenuating circumstances, yes.

15          Q.     Would more frequent telephone cal ls

16     only be given under extenuating circumstances  or

17     might someone -- an official at the prison de cide

18     to give a prisoner more frequent calls even a bsent

19     extenuating circumstances?

20          A.     Normally, it would not be done ab sent

21     extenuating circumstances.

22          Q.     But is it possible?

23          A.     It's possible.

24          Q.     Okay.

25                 MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:  Can I mark thi s
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2                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews th e

3                  material provided.)

4                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

5     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

6          Q.     So how many telephone calls per mo nth

7     does a prisoner in administrative detention at

8     Terre Haute receive?  And we're talking about

9     FCI Terre Haute.

10          A.     One phone call every 30 days.

11          Q.     And what's the duration of that

12     telephone call?

13          A.     Fifteen minutes in length.

14          Q.     Okay.  Does any prison official a t

15     Terre Haute have discretion to provide a pris oner

16     in administrative detention there with a long er

17     telephone call?

18          A.     Yes, they do.

19          Q.     And does any prison official at

20     Terre Haute have the discretion to provide a

21     prisoner in administrative detention there wi th

22     more frequent telephone calls?

23          A.     Yes, they do.

24          Q.     Okay.  Now, we're going to turn t o

25     visitation.
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2     that says Detention or Segregation Status?

3          A.     Yes.

4          Q.     If you want to review those couple  of

5     paragraphs and let us know when you're done.

6                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews th e

7                  material provided.)

8                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

9     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

10          Q.     Can you just read out the first

11     sentence of that section into the record, ple ase?

12          A.     Ordinarily -- which section?

13          Q.     Yeah, starting with the word

14     "Ordinarily."

15          A.     Ordinarily, an inmate retains vis iting

16     privileges while in detention or segregation

17     status.

18          Q.     Okay.  Thank you.

19                 So, to the best of your understan ding,

20     does this policy allow for discretion in the

21     duration of visits that a prisoner in

22     administrative detention might receive?

23          A.     Yes, it does.

24          Q.     Okay.  Does it allow for discreti on in

25     the frequency of visits that a prisoner in
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2     administrative detention might receive?

3          A.     It does.

4          Q.     And does it provide for discretion  in

5     the nature of those visits; in other words,

6     whether those visits are contact visits or

7     noncontact visits?

8          A.     It does.

9          Q.     Okay.  Who makes those discretiona ry

10     decisions?

11          A.     The warden.

12          Q.     Does anyone else at the facility level

13     have authority to make those discretionary

14     decisions?

15          A.     Again, that would -- locally, the

16     warden may delegate that or may take into

17     consideration recommendations from the

18     correctional -- or the chief correctional ser vices

19     person there, the associate warden.

20                 In an emergency situation, a

21     lieutenant, a department has the ability to m ake

22     changes immediately.

23          Q.     So you mentioned "emergency

24     situation."

25                 Are there any other circumstances  that
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2     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

3          Q.     Just let us know when you've had a

4     chance to review the document.

5                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews th e

6                  material provided.)

7                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

8     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

9          Q.     Can you tell me what this document  is?

10          A.     This is inmate visitation

11     supplement -- institution supplement at Mario n

12     dated July 5th, 2013.

13          Q.     Okay.  Can you turn to Page 10 of  the

14     document and review the section on inmates in

15     administrative detention?

16          A.     What pages did you say, Page 9?

17          Q.     Page 10.

18          A.     Okay.

19          Q.     Have you had a chance to take a l ook

20     at the language there on administrative deten tion?

21                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews t he

22                  material provided.)

23                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

24     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

25          Q.     So is my understanding correct th at an
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2     inmate in administrative detention can schedul e a

3     social visit on any Saturday or Sunday of the

4     month at this facility?

5          A.     Yes.

6          Q.     Okay.  And so how many of such vis its

7     could a prisoner in administrative detention

8     schedule per month?

9          A.     Inmates will be allowed social vis its

10     on Saturdays and/or Sundays from 8:30 to 3:00  for

11     a period of two hours.

12                 For two hours on those days.

13                 However, if you look at Page 9, t he

14     Z Unit (Special Housing) provides further

15     guidance.  Inmates may receive a minimum of f our

16     hours of visitation per month.

17                 So as long as those -- those mini mum

18     hours were maintained, that would be the -- t he

19     amount of time an inmate could visit.

20          Q.     Okay.  So a minimum of four hours , but

21     up to and including visits on Saturdays and/o r

22     Sundays between 8:30 a.m. and 3 p.m. for a pe riod

23     of two hours; is that correct?

24          A.     According to the information prov ided,

25     yes.
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2          Q.     Okay.  And just reviewing that

3     beginning of the Z unit section that you

4     referenced, are these contact visits?

5          A.     It appears all inmates in Special

6     Housing Unit will be utilizing video visitatio n --

7     video visiting.

8          Q.     Okay.  So, to the best of your

9     knowledge, does staff at USP have any discreti on

10     regarding the frequency of visits that's desc ribed

11     here?

12          A.     Yes.

13          Q.     And how about the duration of tho se

14     visits?

15          A.     According to the guidance provide d for

16     administrative detention, two hours.

17          Q.     Right.  But, to the best of your

18     understanding, is there any discretion about that?

19          A.     In the areas provided, I do not s ee

20     any discretion.

21          Q.     So is your testimony that there i s no

22     discretion or that you don't know or . . .

23                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews t he

24                  material provided.)

25                 THE WITNESS:  According to
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2                    Prisons Institution Supplement

3                    Number THX-5267.08D, Visiting

4                    Regulations, was marked, for

5                    identification purposes, as

6                    Deposition Exhibit Number 18.)

7                           -  -  -

8     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

9          Q.     Please just take a look at the

10     document.  Take your time.

11                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews t he

12                  material provided.)

13                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

14     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

15          Q.     Can you explain what this documen t is,

16     please?

17          A.     This is -- this is the visiting

18     regulations institution supplement for Terre Haute

19     dated May 31st, 2012.

20          Q.     Okay.  And does this govern FCI

21     Terre Haute?

22          A.     Yes, it does.

23          Q.     Okay.

24                 MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:  Can I also mar k

25          this document as Exhibit Number 19 for t he
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2          record, please?

3                           -  -  -

4                   (Whereupon, Memorandum for Stanl ey

5                    Lovett, Deputy Captain was

6                    marked, for identification

7                    purposes, as Deposition Exhibit

8                    Number 19.)

9                           -  -  -

10                 MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:  This isn't the

11          right document.  I apologize.

12                 MR. CARTIER:  Should we hold on t o

13          it for later?

14                 MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:  You can hold o n

15          to it, but it's not going to be -- yeah,

16          that's the one.

17                 Send them back.  It will be easie r.

18                 Okay.  So start again.

19                 This is the document that I would

20          like marked as Exhibit 19, please.  It's

21          entitled, Memorandum for Stanley Lovett,

22          Deputy Captain.

23     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

24          Q.     Okay.  Just so that we are all on  the

25     same page, literally and metaphorically, we a re
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2     looking at Document Number 19.  And it is a

3     February 21, 2013 memo entitled, Memorandum fo r

4     Stanley Lovett, Deputy Captain.

5          A.     Okay.

6          Q.     Okay.  Just take a moment to revie w

7     that document.

8                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews th e

9                  material provided.)

10                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

11     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

12          Q.     Can you explain what that documen t is

13     for the record, please?

14          A.     This document is a memorandum fro m the

15     warden at the facility to the deputy captain,  and

16     the subject is Special Housing Unit, Inmate

17     Visiting Procedures --

18          Q.     Okay.

19          A.     -- and --

20          Q.     Sorry, go ahead.

21          A.     -- and it appears that it outline s

22     Special Housing Unit visiting procedures and

23     specifically changes in procedures to utilize  --

24     regarding social -- changes regarding social

25     visiting for inmates in SHU.
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2                 And it provides further guidance t hat

3     inmates will not be permitted social visiting in

4     the visiting room.  And it identifies the -- i t

5     directs the captain to ensure that procedures to

6     be utilized will be used -- will be noncontact

7     visiting for inmates housed in SHU; that visit s

8     must be approved in advance by the deputy capt ain.

9     Inmates will be provided -- will provide the S HU

10     lieutenant with visitor information in a time ly

11     manner and expect at least two weeks for

12     processing.

13                 And it appears it says, beginning

14     March 1st, 2013, visits will be conducted

15     Saturday, Sunday and Monday.  And it also pro vides

16     direction to a compound officer who will be

17     available -- who will need to be available to

18     escort visitors to the SHU unit, and SHU unit

19     staff will supervise the visit.

20                 Okay.

21          Q.     Okay.  Can you turn back to Exhib it 18

22     and take a look at Page 5?

23          A.     Okay.

24          Q.     Take a look at the top couple of

25     paragraphs about the FCI.
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2                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews th e

3                  material provided.)

4                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

5     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

6          Q.     So based on your review of that

7     section or anything else in this document, can  you

8     just -- can you tell me, at the current time, as

9     of today, how many visits per month prisoners in

10     administrative detention status in the SHU at

11     FCI Terre Haute are allowed?

12                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews t he

13                  material provided.)

14                 THE WITNESS:  If you're asking me

15          to look for that in the top paragraph, I

16          don't see it in there.

17     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

18          Q.     Okay.  Do you know how many visit s per

19     month these prisoners are allowed?

20          A.     At Terre Haute FCI SHU, they're

21     allowed four hours of visitation per month.

22          Q.     Okay.  What are you basing that o n?

23                 MR. CARTIER:  You can just tell h im

24          what it is.

25                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.  This is
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2          basically a breakdown of what was in

3          supplements, and I -- for clarification

4          for ease of viewing, I transposed

5          everything into a table for -- for me to

6          review.

7     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

8          Q.     Okay.  And you did that yourself?

9          A.     Yes.

10          Q.     Okay.  Is it your understanding t hat

11     this memorandum marked as Exhibit 19 has chan ged

12     the number of visits a prisoner in administra tive

13     detention in the SHU at FCI Terre Haute is

14     permitted?

15          A.     Go ahead.

16                 MR. CARTIER:  Well, I just want t o

17          ask a question.

18                 Is it okay if I direct him to a

19          portion of what he's looking at that mig ht

20          have the answer?

21                 MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:  Go ahead.

22                 THE WITNESS:  Yeah -- no, I'm

23          looking at it here (indicating).

24                 Could you ask your question again ?

25                            - - -
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2                 (Whereupon, the court reporter rea d

3                  back the pertinent part of the

4                  record.)

5                            - - -

6                 MR. CARTIER:  I'll just object as

7          vague as to -- if we're talking about wha t

8          this memorandum does -- what the

9          memorandum states versus what the current

10          policy is.

11                 MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:  Okay.  Let me

12          rephrase.

13                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

14     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

15          Q.     Subsequent to this memorandum, is  it

16     still the case that inmates in administrative

17     detention status at the SHU at FCI Terre Haut e

18     receive four visits per month?

19          A.     They receive two hours of visitin g for

20     a total of four hours per month.

21          Q.     Okay.  Pardon me if I mistook the

22     number.

23                 And does anyone at the FCI have t he

24     discretion to increase the frequency or numbe r of

25     those visits?
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2     documents in there.

3                 But I guess you're accurate with w hat

4     you just said.  I just wanted to make it clear ,

5     not that this supersedes the policies.

6          Q.     Okay.  But that entry is based on your

7     understanding of the policies?

8          A.     Correct.

9          Q.     Correct.

10                 All right.  Can you turn to

11     Exhibit Number 19?  This is the Memorandum fo r

12     Stanley Lovett.

13          A.     Okay.

14          Q.     So does this describe a change in

15     policy regarding contact visits at the FCI

16     Terre Haute?

17          A.     Yes.

18          Q.     What was the previous policy rega rding

19     contact visits?

20          A.     Pursuant to Exhibit 18, the suppl ement

21     on visiting regulations for Terre Haute,

22     Section K, the first sentence states, The

23     following procedures will be utilized regardi ng

24     social visiting for inmates housed in the Spe cial

25     Housing Unit at the FCI.  The second sentence ,
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2     Inmates may be permitted social -- social visi ting

3     in the institution visiting room.

4                 So it appears there used to be soc ial

5     visiting in the visiting room.

6          Q.     And would that have included conta ct

7     visits?

8          A.     Based on that second sentence, it

9     appears that way.

10          Q.     Okay.  For how long was that prev ious

11     policy in place?

12          A.     Without knowing -- well -- in the

13     Directives Referenced -- or Directives Affect ed,

14     the first page of Exhibit 18, it looks like t he

15     previous supplement was dated May 2000 --

16     May 29th, 2009.  So that particular supplemen t

17     went in effect at some point thereafter.

18                 So this supplement, Exhibit 18, i s

19     their latest supplement.

20          Q.     Okay.  So, in other words, am I r ight

21     in thinking that at least dating back to May 29th,

22     2009, SHU visiting procedures encompassed con tact

23     visits?

24          A.     Yes.

25          Q.     Do you know if that policy was in
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2     that correct?

3          A.     Activities, illegal activities,

4     activities that direct other inmates to conduc t

5     misconduct, that's one example.

6          Q.     Okay.  But -- okay.

7                 Can you take a look at Pages 7

8     through 10 of this exhibit?  Just take a glanc e of

9     at them.

10                 (Whereupon, the witness reviews t he

11                  material provided.)

12                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

13     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

14          Q.     So am I right in thinking that th is

15     document describes different levels that a

16     prisoner at a SMU might -- might have?

17          A.     Correct.

18          Q.     And so can a SMU prisoner move fr om

19     level to level?

20          A.     Yes.

21          Q.     Okay.  And why does a SMU use the se

22     different levels?

23          A.     Pursuant to the policy, the struc ture

24     and the Section 6, the level progression is b ased

25     on the inmate demonstrating the potential for
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2     positive community interaction.  It specifical ly

3     outlines, During Level Two, inmates generally

4     program and function separately.

5                 And then there's a progression to

6     Level Three.  Progression to Level Three requi res

7     that the inmate demonstrate the ability to coe xist

8     with other individuals, groups, or gangs.

9                 So, accordingly, the inmate progre sses

10     through levels based on those particular

11     requirements along with other -- other items

12     outlined in the policy.

13          Q.     Okay.  So why has the BOP decided  to

14     create this structure where a prisoner would move

15     from level to level?

16          A.     The reason for the structure is t o

17     show level progression.  The inmate satisfies  the

18     requirements of one level before advancing to  the

19     next level.  And there's specific requirement s

20     that the inmate must demonstrate before being

21     considered to the next level.

22          Q.     And what is the purpose of allowi ng a

23     prisoner to progress from level to level?

24          A.     Positive behavior; program

25     participation; program completion; increasing  the
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2     inmate's awareness of the programs that are

3     available at that particular facility; and him

4     demonstrating a willingness to coexist with ot her

5     inmates or other persons in that particular

6     setting and in that environment.

7                 And ultimately they're exposed, fr om

8     Level One through Level Four, to greater acces s

9     and to programming and interaction with others .

10          Q.     Okay.  So that's what happens at each

11     level and that's what you have to do to get f rom

12     level to level --

13          A.     Right.

14          Q.     -- but why would the BOP want to

15     graduate a prisoner from level to level?

16          A.     So that the inmate would ultimate ly,

17     upon return to the -- a facility, not continu e

18     with the disruptive behavior that was the ref erral

19     criteria.

20          Q.     Is it fair to say that it's sort of

21     like a reward program in the sense that if yo u

22     sort of comport with rules and program and al l

23     that stuff, you will be rewarded by moving fr om

24     level to level and, eventually, it sounds lik e,

25     work your way out of an SMU?
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2          A.     Well, I wouldn't call it a reward

3     program.

4          Q.     Okay.  What would you call it?

5          A.     I would call it reentry skills.  I

6     would call it being able to demonstrate that

7     you're going to be a better person when you le ave

8     incarceration.

9                 I mean, that's ultimately what we

10     want.  We don't want inmates going to society  and

11     continuing disruptive behavior.  We want them  a

12     better person.  It's incumbent upon us to pro vide

13     them those outlets.

14          Q.     And am I right in thinking that a  SMU

15     prisoner earns more privileges as they move f rom

16     level to level?

17          A.     That would be correct.

18          Q.     So -- so if it's not a reward pro gram,

19     perhaps is it more accurate to say that it's an

20     incentive system to reward good behavior?

21          A.     It would be the inmate receiving

22     additional increased programming that would a llow

23     that inmate to see other outlets or other pro grams

24     that if they complete one program, they see t he

25     next program as something that could expose t hem
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2     to other reentry initiatives that would better

3     that person.

4                 And, also, that -- that inmate wou ld

5     be exposed to other inmates to which they woul d

6     coexist in another setting and, at the same ti me,

7     they learn more skills.

8          Q.     So how does it better a person?

9          A.     By being able to expose that inmat e to

10     the programs available at that facility, what ever

11     programs they have; also understand that base d on

12     the programs that are available, maybe see th e

13     fact that their behavior was not right and sh ould

14     not occur, because it's -- it's -- it's not

15     positive towards reentry back into society.

16          Q.     And how does a prisoner -- I know

17     you've described some of the things a prisone r can

18     do to get from level to level, but how does i t

19     actually work?

20          A.     Well, actually, if you -- pursuan t to

21     the policy, when an inmate arrives at any

22     facility, at any of the SMUs -- if you look a t, I

23     believe, Page 8 -- yeah, Page 8 -- let's back  up.

24     Let's start with Page 7.

25                 If you look at the Admission and
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2     allowing other programs at those locations.

3                 And for the purposes of the SMU, t he

4     identification at this facility and at Lewisbu rg

5     and Florence, and all of them, they identified

6     specific requirements for their program.

7          Q.     Okay.  But I'm correct in thinking

8     that one of the ways this program works is tha t

9     prisoners start off with fewer telephone calls  and

10     then end up with more telephone calls?

11          A.     Correct.

12          Q.     What is the purpose of starting a

13     prisoner off with fewer telephone calls and t hen

14     progressively giving them more telephone call s?

15          A.     If you look at Exhibit, I believe , 21.

16     If you look at Conditions of Confinement, it

17     specifically identifies that the Conditions o f the

18     confinement for SMU inmates will be more

19     restrictive than for general population inmat e --

20     general population inmates.

21                 And then, if you go to -- the sen tence

22     begins, Individual conditions may be -- may b e

23     further limited as part of a disciplinary san ction

24     imposed pursuant to 28 C.F.R.  And then the n ext

25     sentence, Individual conditions are ordinaril y
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2     earlier fairly accurately?

3          A.     I didn't specifically say that.

4                 THE WITNESS:  Can you go back and

5          tell me what I said?

6     BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

7          Q.     So rather than revisiting what you

8     said --

9          A.     Okay.

10          Q.     -- precisely, what are some of th e

11     reasons that an SMU prisoner is given more vi sits

12     as time progresses and as they move from leve l to

13     level?

14          A.     As I indicated in reference to th e

15     telephone, the inmate would be exposed to pro gram

16     requirements that would be indicative of posi tive

17     behavior; at the same time, program completio ns,

18     successful completion of various programs; an d

19     also, the staff at the facility could, throug h the

20     review process, see the inmate's ability to

21     coexist with other inmates.

22          Q.     So, in other words, this is a goo d way

23     for the prison to assess this particular

24     individual's progress?

25          A.     Sure.
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2         A.     Well, for the Bureau, that is still

3   part of the designation process.  That would be

4   the initial consideration for designation.

5         Q.     Okay.

6                Are there any written instructions

7   indicating the process to be followed if a

8   Bureau of Prisons' staff member believes that an

9   inmate should be considered for CMU designation?

10         A.     Well, there is a memo which was

11   issued in 2008 from the assistant director at

12   the time instructing institutions to contact th e

13   Counterterrorism Unit.

14         Q.     Okay.  Let's look at that memo.  I

15   believe it is the document that has been

16   previously marked as Exhibit 38.

17                Are you looking at the document,

18   sir?

19         A.     Yes.

20         Q.     Okay.  Is this the memo that you

21   just referred to?

22         A.     Yes.

23                MS. MEEROPOL:  Okay.  For the

24         record, I'll state that this is a

25         March 5th, 2008 memo from Joyce Conley

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-6   Filed 04/23/14   Page 53 of 264



212-400-8845 - depo@transperfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 18

1                  DAVID C. SCHIAVONE

2         and it's Bates stamped P22.

3   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

4         Q.     Now, the last sentence of this memo

5   states that if staff are aware of inmates who

6   may meet the CMU criteria, they should contact

7   Les Smith, Chief Counterterrorism Unit, for CMU

8   referral information and procedures.

9                Do you see where I'm reading, sir?

10         A.     Yes.

11         Q.     What are the CMU referral

12   information and procedures referred to here?

13         A.     The information and procedures

14   would be the documentation the CTU would need

15   from the referring source in order to process

16   the referral for consideration.

17         Q.     So if a BOP staff member went ahea d

18   at the direction of this memo and contacted

19   Les Smith, under BOP policy, what would

20   Les Smith provide back to that individual in

21   terms of guidance or next steps?

22         A.     Well, you asked about policy.  I

23   mean, this is the information that is available

24   to the staff.  We would inform the staff about

25   the documentation we would need in order to
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2   process the referral for routing consideration.

3         Q.     Would -- would all of the

4   instructions to staff be verbal instructions, or

5   are there any written materials provided to

6   staff in this situation?

7         A.     Generally, it's verbal.

8         Q.     Okay.  And what information does

9   policy require you to ask for from staff to

10   begin the designation process?

11         A.     Well, like I said, there's no

12   specific policy; but we instruct staff that --

13   to consider an inmate, we want to look at the

14   presentence report, the judgment and commitment

15   order, the statement of reasons and any other

16   information they have relating to communication

17   concerns with the inmate, whether it's

18   disciplinary, investigative, law enforcement,

19   anything which would support their concern for

20   enhanced monitoring of an inmate's

21   communications.

22         Q.     Does this 2008 memo represent the

23   only written instructions that the Bureau of

24   Prisons has set forth indicating how a BOP staf f

25   member should suggest that a prisoner be
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2   considered for CMU designation?

3         A.     Well, there's a 2009 memo from the

4   assistant director which talks about

5   transferring inmates from a CMU which references

6   material which would also be used to consider an

7   inmate for CMU placement.

8         Q.     Does that memo say anything about

9   what a staff should do if they think -- what a

10   BOP staff member should do if he or she thinks

11   that an inmate should be considered for CMU

12   placement?

13         A.     That memo is specific towards

14   transferring inmates from a CMU, where this mem o

15   from March of 2008 discusses initial placement

16   in a CMU.

17         Q.     So back to my question, is this th e

18   only memo that describes what a BOP staff membe r

19   should do if he or she thinks that an inmate

20   should be considered for CMU placement?

21         A.     Well, this memo is the only memo

22   which describes the initial steps staff could

23   take, but the other memo, like I said, includes

24   information relevant to this process, too.

25         Q.     Thank you, sir.
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2                Now, the final paragraph of the

3   Conley memo, the part I read earlier, also

4   includes a reference to CMU criteria.

5                At the time that this memo was

6   issued, had the BOP put the CMU criteria into

7   writing in any document?

8         A.     No, not to my knowledge, no.

9         Q.     How were BOP staff members supposed

10   to understand whether an inmate might meet the

11   CMU criteria at the time this memo was issued?

12         A.     At the time this memo was issued,

13   such information was communicated verbally amon g

14   the executive staff within the Bureau of

15   Prisons.

16         Q.     When you say "among the executive

17   staff," who are you referring to?

18         A.     The director, the assistant

19   directors, regional directors.  It would be sen t

20   to wardens at the institution level.

21         Q.     The information was sent verbally,

22   you said.  How did this happen?  Were there a

23   series of phone calls?  Can you -- can you

24   explain exactly how that occurred?

25         A.     It's my understanding that it
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2   occurred during different types of executive

3   level meetings, whether they were in person,

4   video conference, phone conference.

5         Q.     During what period of time?

6         A.     Around the time the units opened up

7   through this memo.

8         Q.     After the issuance of this memo,

9   did there come a time when the BOP put into

10   writing CMU criteria?

11         A.     You said after this memo?

12         Q.     Yes.

13                We -- we already established that

14   at the time this memo was issued, there were

15   no -- there was no documentation of CMU

16   criteria.

17                And so I'm asking if there came a

18   time after this memo that CMU criteria were put

19   into writing.

20         A.     The criteria were formalized in

21   writing for the production of the proposed

22   regulations for the Code of Federal Regulations .

23         Q.     When did that occur?

24         A.     That occurred -- I can't recall

25   exactly.  It was in the period between 2008 and
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2   previous version would have been through a

3   review process as the document was created and

4   drafted.

5         Q.     So is it accurate to say that prior

6   to April 6th, 2010, the BOP did not have written

7   documentation of CMU criteria available either

8   to the public or for use for -- for internal BOP

9   purposes?

10         A.     That would be accurate, yes.

11         Q.     Okay.  And can you direct me in th e

12   document in Exhibit 113 to the CMU designation

13   criteria?

14         A.     Well, on Page 17326 of the

15   document, which is the Bates stamped P003268

16   starting at the bottom of the first column, it

17   lists five criteria.

18         Q.     I'm looking at a paragraph that

19   begins, Under the proposed regulation, inmates

20   may be designated to a CMU if.

21                Is that what you're referring to,

22   sir?

23         A.     Yes.

24         Q.     Now, please take a moment to revie w

25   the five bullet points to yourself.  My questio n
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2   is going to be whether this is an accurate

3   statement of the CMU criteria as they currently

4   stand today.

5                (Whereupon, the witness reviews the

6                 material provided.)

7                THE WITNESS:  Yes, this is

8         correct.

9   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

10         Q.     Okay.  Let's take a look at the

11   document that's been previously marked as

12   Exhibit 36.

13                MR. CARTIER:  Can we go off the

14         record for one moment?

15                MS. MEEROPOL:  Sure.

16                       -  -  -

17                (Whereupon, a discussion was held

18                 off the record.)

19                       -  -  -

20                MR. CARTIER:  Okay.  You want

21         exhibit -- which number?

22                MS. MEEROPOL:  Thirty-six.

23                MR. CARTIER:  Okay.

24   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

25         Q.     Sir, can you tell me what this
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2   document is?

3         A.     This is what we commonly refer to

4   as a talking point.  It's a summary.  It's a

5   briefing document for the executive staff of the

6   Correctional Programs Division in the

7   Central Office.

8         Q.     And what's the purpose of this

9   document?

10         A.     It's a summary.  It's a -- a

11   briefing item for the executive staff.  It's

12   produced for just about every area of

13   responsibility they have supervision over to

14   give them just a quick reference to summarize

15   what that area does, what it's responsible for,

16   how it operates.

17         Q.     Does this document set forth CMU

18   designation criteria?

19         A.     No, this isn't a policy document;

20   this is just a summary of procedures that are

21   currently in place.

22         Q.     And looking at the first

23   bullet point in the document, what does

24   associated with international or domestic

25   terrorism mean?
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2   the public, but other than that, I can't tell

3   from the content when it was produced exactly.

4                MS. MEEROPOL:  Let's take a

5         minute off the record, okay -- actually,

6         I want to take just a quick break.

7                MR. CARTIER:  Can we take a

8         10-minute break or something?

9                MS. MEEROPOL:  Sure, that sounds

10         fine.

11                       -  -  -

12                (Whereupon, a brief recess was tak en

13                 from 10:17 a.m. to 10:32 a.m.)

14                       -  -  -

15   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

16         Q.     Okay.  So we're back on the record .

17                I understand you have something yo u

18   wanted to clarify, sir.

19         A.     Well, when we were talking earlier

20   about the five designation points, it was my

21   understanding from the question that you wanted

22   to know when they were issued in writing, which

23   was when the regs came out in 2010, but

24   the -- the Conley memo in 2008 laid out the

25   general idea and concept of what the CMU was an d
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2   what kind of inmates were to be placed in the

3   unit.

4                So there is a memo prior to the

5   regs coming out.  My understanding of the

6   question was you wanted to know when those five

7   specific criteria were -- were documented.

8         Q.     Yes.  I believe my question was

9   about CMU criteria.

10                Is it your testimony that the

11   Conley memo also sets forth CMU criteria?

12         A.     Well, it doesn't set forth those

13   five points in that format, but it identifies a

14   general characteristic of communication concern s

15   which staff would consider for referring an

16   inmate for a CMU.

17         Q.     Let's look back at the document in

18   question.  It's Exhibit 38.

19                Can you point me to the portion of

20   the memo that you're referring to, sir?

21         A.     Well, it would be the second and

22   third paragraphs where it describes what the CM U

23   is for and what type of inmates are placed in

24   the unit, where it says they require enhanced

25   monitoring of all communications with person in
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2   community.  This will allow staff to protect the

3   safety, security and orderly operation of the

4   Bureau facilities and protect the public.

5                The next paragraph states, CMU will

6   increase the Bureau's capacity for managing

7   inmates who require enhanced communication

8   monitoring.

9                So it gives an overview of a need

10   to provide enhanced monitoring of these types o f

11   inmates.

12         Q.     Thank you, sir.

13                So before the break, we were

14   talking about the document that has been marked

15   as Exhibit 179, and I believe you testified tha t

16   this document was created for the assistant

17   director of correctional programs, correct?

18         A.     Correct.

19         Q.     And does that individual play any

20   role in the CMU designation process?

21         A.     If we can back up one second, just

22   to go back over this -- these documents again,

23   because I think you had asked about identifying

24   and separating the different documents.

25         Q.     Yes, sir.
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2         privileged communications under the

3         deliberative process privilege.

4                And, Rachel, just to clarify, are

5         you asking if those -- if documents like

6         that exist, or was your word are they

7         being -- is the BOP considering creating

8         such documents?

9                MS. MEEROPOL:  Yeah, my question

10         was whether they -- whether the BOP

11         discussed and decided not to put in a

12         policy document, the steps in the

13         designation process.

14                MR. CARTIER:  You can answer if

15         you know.

16                THE WITNESS:  The only

17         discussions I've had regarding that

18         topic has been with counsel.

19   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

20         Q.     You testified that the proposed

21   rule is a document that is meant to guide the

22   recommendations or decisions made by those

23   individuals involved in the CMU designation

24   process.

25         A.     Well, I don't think that's exactly
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2   what I meant.  I meant it -- it -- the rules are

3   the procedures that the Bureau has been using

4   and the criteria the Bureau considered.  I don't

5   think the rules, especially since they're still

6   being considered for publication, are an actual

7   policy document for staff to use.

8         Q.     Is there a policy document for

9   staff to use to guide their recommendation as to

10   CMU designation?

11         A.     Well, as we've discussed, the

12   Conley memo and the Dodrill memo have been

13   produced regarding CMU designations.

14         Q.     So besides those two documents,

15   there's no other document that individuals

16   involved in the CMU designation process are

17   supposed to look to to guide their

18   recommendation; is that accurate?

19         A.     No, because the national policy on

20   designations still covers a lot of the factors

21   regarding CMUs, because they provide oversight

22   nationally for all of designation processes.

23                So the program statement regarding

24   custody classification and security designation s

25   would be relevant as well.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-6   Filed 04/23/14   Page 66 of 264



212-400-8845 - depo@transperfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 56

1                  DAVID C. SCHIAVONE

2   criteria should actually be placed there?

3         A.     Well, yes, we can refer back to the

4   Conley memo, the Dodrill memo, the national

5   program statement on designations, which provide

6   information regarding the designation process.

7         Q.     Is it accurate to say that inmates

8   who meet any of these five bullet points in

9   Exhibit 113 are eligible for CMU designation and

10   at that point the recommender or decision-maker

11   exercises his or her judgment to -- to -- let m e

12   start that one over.

13                Is it accurate to say that

14   prisoners who meet one of these five bullet

15   points in Exhibit 113 are eligible for CMU

16   placement but may or may not actually be placed

17   in the CMU?

18         A.     Yes, I would say that's accurate,

19   because any and all designations in the Bureau

20   of Prisons are based on a number of different

21   factors including a correctional judgment and

22   decision by the deciding authority.

23         Q.     I want to talk about the

24   Counterterrorism Unit for a moment.

25                What's the Counterterrorism Unit's
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2         Q.     Is it your testimony that there is

3   a list in those two sources?

4         A.     Well, the program statement

5   identifies relevant material which would be used

6   for any designation and then the Dodrill memo

7   discusses -- well, the Dodrill memo primarily

8   discusses the transfer out of the CMU.

9         Q.     So is it your testimony that the

10   national policy on designations lists relevant

11   information to be used in general in a

12   designation packet, but there's no other

13   document that the BOP has created to list

14   information that should go in a CMU designation

15   packet?

16         A.     I would say that's correct.

17         Q.     Is everything that the CTU reviews

18   to make their CMU designation recommendation

19   placed in the designation packet?

20         A.     Not always.  There could be law

21   enforcement or other sensitive information whic h

22   can't be transmitted along with the packet.

23         Q.     In situations like that, what

24   happens?

25         A.     We make arrangements to have that
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2   for that particular information.

3         Q.     Are there other situations in which

4   information relied on by the CTU to come to

5   their recommendation is left out of the

6   designation packet?

7         A.     No, all relevant information the

8   CTU believe supports the recommendation is

9   included unless it can't be transmitted in a

10   typical format that is used to pass the packets

11   between the reviewing authorities.

12         Q.     What's the purpose of the CTU

13   designation memo?

14         A.     The CTU memo is a starting point.

15   It makes the recommendation and gives a point o f

16   view and perspective of the Counterterrorism

17   Unit regarding our review of the case and if we

18   believe the inmate warrants the level of

19   monitoring in the CMU.

20         Q.     Does the designation memo also

21   summarize all the relevant information in the

22   designation packet?

23         A.     It summarizes relevant information

24   the CTU believes supports the recommendation fo r

25   placement in the CMU.
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2         Q.     In summarizing the information that

3   supports designation, should the underlying

4   document that information comes from be included

5   in the designation packet?

6         A.     The CTU provides all relevant

7   information it believes are appropriate to

8   support the recommendations.

9                So if it's summarized in the memo,

10   it would be produced along with the packet

11   unless it's law enforcement sensitive or

12   classified.

13         Q.     Does the CTU memo include a

14   description of offense conduct, even when the

15   offense is not the reason for CMU placement?

16         A.     Ordinarily, there will be at least

17   a brief summary, if not just a statement of the

18   offense charges and conviction.

19         Q.     And what's the purpose of includin g

20   that information in the designation memo?

21         A.     Well, it's relevant background

22   information for any designation, because it --

23   it's an identifier and specific to an inmate's

24   designation regardless of him being in the CTU,

25   because it'll relate to his custody
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2   classification and need for security within the

3   agency.

4         Q.     Now, I understand that the

5   presentence report is generally included in the

6   designation packet; is that accurate?

7         A.     Yes.

8         Q.     Given that the PSR is included in

9   the designation packet, what's the purpose of

10   summarizing the offense conduct in the

11   designation memo?

12         A.     Well, the summary is to give the

13   reader a synopsis of the information.  It's --

14   the package can be very long and very detailed.

15   This provides them an oversight of what they're

16   looking at, what's relevant to the placement in

17   the unit and provides, I guess you could say,

18   like a snapshot, an overview of relevant

19   information.

20         Q.     Is the notice to inmate of transfe r

21   also included in the designation packet?

22         A.     Yes.

23         Q.     And what's the purpose of includin g

24   this notice in the designation packet?

25         A.     It is included in the packet for
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2   all levels of review for comment and

3   consideration.

4         Q.     Does it reflect the reasons why the

5   CTU believes that the prisoner should be placed

6   in a CMU?

7         A.     That's a summary of the relevant

8   information which supports the inmate's

9   placement in the CMU.

10         Q.     It's a summary of the relevant

11   information that the CTU believes supports the

12   prisoner's designation, correct?

13                MR. CARTIER:  Objection.  Are we

14         talking about the draft notice here?

15                MS. MEEROPOL:  Yeah, I'm talking

16         about the notice as included in the

17         designation packet.

18                THE WITNESS:  Well, you could say

19         the initial form would be based on the

20         perception of the CTU, but the form goes

21         through the entire review process; so by

22         the time it's finalized, it would then

23         be the perception of the Bureau, not

24         just the CTU.

25
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2   the CMU designation packet process?

3         A.     Well, the Bureau implemented the

4   process for referring inmates through that

5   particular means in early 2007, after the unit

6   at Terre Haute first opened.

7         Q.     Were referral or designation

8   packets created for the first set of CMU

9   prisoners?

10         A.     I am not aware -- the CTU was not

11   involved in that process.

12         Q.     Okay.  But you're not testifying

13   today just as with respect to your role in the

14   CTU, sir, but as a witness for the Bureau of

15   Prisons.

16                So --

17         A.     I'm not aware.  I don't know that

18   packets were created for those inmates.

19         Q.     Please describe the process by

20   which the CTU decides whether to recommend a

21   prisoner for CMU designation.

22         A.     Well, I wouldn't describe it as a

23   process because it's not something that you

24   could easily describe in a step-by-step manner.

25   It's a correctional judgment based on a review
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2   of the history of the inmate's conduct, behavior

3   and relevant information regarding a need for

4   greater communication monitoring.

5         Q.     Does the CTU refer to any written

6   criteria to guide its deliberations?

7         A.     Well, we consider the relevant

8   information from the Conley memo, the Dodrill

9   memo, the proposed regulations describing the

10   criteria for CMU placement.

11         Q.     Do you refer -- do you -- let me

12   start over.

13                Does the CTU rely on any one of

14   those documents more heavily than any other or

15   all three equally?

16         A.     All equally.

17         Q.     Does the CTU rely on any unwritten

18   criteria to guide its deliberations?

19         A.     Sure, a lot of this is based on

20   correctional judgment which is based on

21   experience, knowledge of managing inmates,

22   dealing with designations -- in institution

23   security concerns.

24         Q.     Looking at the Dodrill memo for a

25   moment, which is Exhibit 115.  I want to talk
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2   about the first criteria, which is 2.a. in this

3   memo.

4         A.     Okay.

5         Q.     Does this criteria apply only to

6   individuals who have an association with

7   terrorism as shown through their conviction or

8   offense conduct?

9         A.     I'm sorry.  Can you say that again?

10         Q.     Let me try to say it in a differen t

11   way.

12                Is it accurate to say that this

13   criteria would not apply to an individual whose

14   terrorism association has been displayed throug h

15   his incarceration conduct, as opposed to his

16   offense conduct?

17         A.     That's a hard question to answer,

18   because it could cross into law enforcement

19   information which relates to each individual

20   inmate.  We look at the -- the entire history o f

21   the information regarding the inmate, looking a t

22   offense conduct, as this says, a conviction --

23   conviction, the offense conduct, the associatio n

24   with terrorism.

25         Q.     Well, okay.  I -- Section a says,
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2   The inmate's current offense or offenses of

3   conviction, or offense conduct, included

4   association, communication or involvement,

5   related to international or domestic terrorism.

6                So what I'm trying to understand

7   here is, is this subsection just about an

8   individual whose conviction or offense conduct

9   is about terrorism, or could it also apply to an

10   individual who is associated with terrorism

11   through something other than their conviction o r

12   offense conduct?

13         A.     I'm trying to think of a way to

14   word this.

15                We consider all relevant

16   information regarding an association of

17   terrorism.  And some of that information may

18   relate to his incarceration conduct, which woul d

19   subsequently or could possibly relate to offens e

20   conduct or convictions.  It's based on an

21   individual case-by-case basis, and the

22   information would be subjected to review based

23   on the breadth of that information.

24         Q.     But, sir, I'm asking just about

25   this section, a.  I mean, there's five criteria
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2   decision-maker has with respect to

3   communications?

4         A.     It could.  It's designed to provide

5   a point for -- any other type of activity that's

6   not more defined in the other points.

7         Q.     What is the Office of General

8   Counsel's role in the CMU designation process?

9         A.     I'm sorry.

10         Q.     Please take your time, sir.  I've

11   got to cough myself, so, you know, if you need

12   to take a break, I understand.

13                MR. CARTIER:  Do you want more

14         water?

15                THE WITNESS:  No, I'm good.  I

16         have some.

17                The Office of General Counsel

18         reviews the material to make an

19         assessment whether they believe the

20         limitations imposed on the inmate's

21         communications while in the unit are

22         within policy and are supported by the

23         information provided in -- in the

24         referral packet.

25
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2   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

3         Q.     Does OGC opine as to the

4   appropriateness of CMU placement or just the

5   sufficiency of the supporting evidence?

6         A.     Their comments are based on the

7   sufficiency of the evidence.  They leave the

8   correctional judgment as far as designations to

9   others.

10         Q.     Has OGC always played that same

11   role with respect to the CMU designation?

12         A.     Yes.

13         Q.     What role does the Central Office

14   play in the CMU designation process?

15         A.     Well, the Central Office is the

16   supervisory authority over the CTU.  Right now

17   they review the material as a matter of

18   oversight to the CTU.

19         Q.     What do you mean by that, "as a

20   matter of oversight"?

21         A.     Well, everybody has supervisors.

22   They -- they review the material just to give i t

23   another layer of review and assessment.

24                The proposal is for the assistant

25   director to eventually make those decisions at
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2   that level, so it -- it just provides a means

3   for them to -- to look at that material and

4   become part of the process.

5         Q.     What are they looking for in their

6   review?

7         A.     They look at the same criteria

8   everybody else looks at.

9         Q.     Do they provide an independent

10   recommendation as to whether CMU placement is

11   appropriate?

12         A.     They will generally provide a

13   statement, whether they concur with the

14   recommendation as written by the CTU, yes.

15         Q.     Is that a written statement?

16         A.     Ordinarily, ordinarily, I would --

17   well, the CTU receives an e-mail response with

18   their comment.

19         Q.     And does the Central Office provid e

20   any explanation of the reasons for their

21   concurrence or against their concurrence?

22         A.     No, ordinarily, their comment is

23   just limited to whether they concur or don't

24   concur with the recommendation.

25         Q.     And is the Central Office's
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2   concurrence or lack of concurrence transmitted

3   to the North Central Regional Office?

4         A.     Yes.

5         Q.     In what format?

6         A.     Generally, the -- if the Central

7   Office replies in an e-mail, that's placed into

8   the packet, and there may also be comments in

9   the -- the -- the e-mail message which forwards

10   the packet to the North Central which discusses

11   the review by OGC and the Central Office.

12         Q.     Has the Central Office always

13   played this role in the CMU designation process ?

14         A.     No.

15         Q.     And when did they first begin to

16   play this role?

17         A.     I would have to go back and check.

18   I can remember an executive staff member we had

19   come in after a change and felt that the packet

20   should be reviewed by Central Office; I just

21   can't remember when she came in.  I can't

22   remember --

23         Q.     Leave a blank --

24         A.     I'm sorry.  I can't remember the

25   exact date, it was I would -- I believe it was
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2   somewhere around 2010 or 2011 when we had a

3   change of exec staff in the Central Office.

4         Q.     Okay.  Well, you're going to have a

5   chance to review and sign this transcript after

6   the deposition.

7                So I'll just ask you to please do

8   whatever you can to refresh your recollection as

9   to whether -- when that change happened and if

10   you can provide a more specific date as to when

11   Central Office review occurred, to please

12   include that in your errata form.

13                Okay, sir?

14         A.     Yes.

15         Q.     Why did the change come about?

16         A.     Well, like I said, we -- we got a

17   new assistant director and senior deputy

18   assistant director, and it was just their

19   preference to have more oversight of their area s

20   of responsibility.

21         Q.     Did any individual case prompt tha t

22   decision to have more oversight?

23         A.     No, not that I know of.  It was

24   just a change in the exec staff.

25         Q.     Please describe the role that the
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2   North Central Regional Office plays in the CMU

3   designation process.

4         A.     The Regional Director for the North

5   Central Regional Office is currently the

6   deciding authority for CMU designations.

7         Q.     And does North Central Regional

8   Office staff also play a role in the CMU

9   designation process?

10         A.     Yes, the Regional Director has the

11   packet routed through his subject matter expert s

12   in several divisions for comment.

13         Q.     Is the CTU's role in the CMU

14   designation process set forth in writing in any

15   BOP policy document?

16         A.     We're back to policy documents

17   again which we talked about.  The Dodrill memo

18   and the Conley memo indicate that the CTU is

19   involved in the process.

20         Q.     So does -- the Dodrill memo talks

21   about the CTU's role.

22                I don't see anything on the Dodril l

23   memo about OGC's role or the Central Office's

24   role.

25                Is there any BOP policy document
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2   that sets forth OGC's role or the Central

3   Office's role in the CMU designation process?

4         A.     No, I would say no.

5         Q.     Now, the Dodrill memo also sets

6   forth the fact that the Regional Director of the

7   North Central Region plays a role in the CMU

8   designation process.

9                I don't see anything in the memo

10   about the role played by other individuals

11   within the North Central Regional Office.

12                Is that accurate, sir?  Well, I

13   guess you can't answer whether it's accurate

14   what I see.

15                Do you also not see anything in

16   that memo about the North Central Regional

17   Office's staff's role in the designation

18   process?

19         A.     No, I don't see anything regarding

20   that specific process either.

21         Q.     Is there any other document where

22   the North Central Regional Office's -- where th e

23   North Central Regional Office's staff's role in

24   the CMU designation process is set forth?

25         A.     Not that I'm aware of, no.  Their
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2   role is based on the decision of the Regional

3   Director.  The Regional Director is the deciding

4   authority.  If he's looking for input and

5   comment from other subject matter experts in his

6   division, I would expect an administrator, from

7   my experience, to do that just on about

8   everything they do.  That's why they have these

9   different people with subject matter expertise

10   to give comment on relevant factors which may b e

11   outlooked by a single deciding authority.

12         Q.     Is it fair to say then that the

13   Regional Director could decide tomorrow, I no

14   longer want my office staff to utilize the CMU

15   review form and to provide comment to me; I'm

16   just going to make the decisions myself and --

17   and begin making the decisions in a different

18   manner?

19         A.     I believe that would be his

20   discretion -- his or her discretion, yes.

21         Q.     Okay.  Let's take a look at one of

22   the CMU review forms currently utilized, as far

23   as I understand it, by the North Central

24   Regional Office.

25                I think you'll find an example in
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2   just looking to see if a CMU -- if a potential

3   CMU inmate meets the CMU criteria?

4                And when I say "criteria," I'm

5   referring to the five bullet points set forth in

6   the Dodrill memo which are also reflected in the

7   proposed rule.

8         A.     Right; I would say no, that's not

9   their only job.  They have to look at all

10   aspects of institution security relevant to tha t

11   particular case and they may determine that an

12   inmate is appropriate for a CMU.  They may

13   determine the inmate is not.  The inmate may

14   require greater security, other factors

15   regarding that particular case.

16                So they should be looking at every

17   aspect of the designation process as it relates

18   throughout the Agency.

19         Q.     What's the Regional Director's rol e

20   with respect to the CMU designation process?

21         A.     The Regional Director is the

22   deciding authority.

23         Q.     Can the Regional Director make his

24   decision based on information that is not

25   included in the designation packet?
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2         A.     Yes, if the region or the

3   Regional Director, himself, comes across

4   information they believe is relevant, which was

5   not included, sure, the -- the Regional Director

6   could consider that information.

7         Q.     Can a Regional Director make his

8   decision based on some information in the packet

9   while deciding that other information in the

10   packet is not compelling to him?

11         A.     Sure, it's his decision.  He has t o

12   make a judgment based on what supports the CMU

13   placement, and he may agree with all or some of

14   the information -- he or she.

15         Q.     Does BOP policy -- thank you.

16         A.     Sorry.

17         Q.     Does -- does BOP policy require th e

18   Regional Director to document the reasons for

19   his or her decision?

20         A.     We're back to policy again, and

21   we -- we've discussed what policies are out

22   there.

23                The Regional Director has to

24   document a decision in order for it to be

25   communicated for the designation to be made, bu t
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2   the reasons, that would be up to the

3   Regional Director is what he felt was pertinent

4   to include in that decision.

5         Q.     So there's no requirement that the

6   Regional Director document the reasons for his

7   or her -- her decision?

8         A.     Correct.

9         Q.     Was the North Central Regional

10   Office process that we've just discussed always

11   in place for CMU designations?

12         A.     Yes.

13         Q.     Has that process changed in any wa y

14   over the years that the CMU has been in

15   existence?

16         A.     You're referring to as far as the

17   Regional Director being the deciding authority,

18   then, no.

19         Q.     Yes.

20                The Regional Director being the

21   deciding authority and the Regional Director

22   utilizing comments from the subject matter

23   experts on his staff, has that process changed

24   at all over the time the CMU has existed?

25         A.     Not that I'm aware.  I believe
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2   under these conditions is based on the following

3   specific information, and then the various

4   inmate's specific information documented in the

5   form, is that accurate, sir?

6         A.     Yes.

7         Q.     Who has authority for the final

8   version of the text in this form?

9         A.     The warden would, because the

10   warden signs the form.

11         Q.     When are the notices to inmate of

12   transfer provided to CMU inmates?

13         A.     Within five days of their arrival

14   in the unit.

15         Q.     Were notices to inmate of transfer

16   provided to the first set of inmates sent to th e

17   CMU?

18         A.     Yes, they were.

19         Q.     Are there other units within the

20   Bureau of Prisons that use the same kind of

21   designation process as that which is used for

22   the CMU?

23                MR. CARTIER:  Objection: vague.

24                You can answer.

25                THE WITNESS:  There are similar
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2   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

3         Q.     What are the concerns that would be

4   raised by using SMU processes for CMU

5   designation?

6         A.     I was just speculating here.  I

7   mean, you're talking about a more extensive

8   process which is staff intensive, time and money

9   go along with that -- the CMUs are a general

10   population unit.  They're -- they're much

11   similar to other typical general population

12   units.

13                If we did due process hearings in a

14   CMU, what would be the difference in doing due

15   process hearings for other designations that

16   inmates wanted to challenge prior to arrival,

17   other -- other units where the inmates are out

18   of the cell for the same amount of time.

19         Q.     Leaving aside the resource issues

20   posed by providing due process hearings for CMU

21   designations, would there be any other concerns

22   with using due process hearings for CMU

23   designations?

24                MR. CARTIER:  I'm going to

25         interpose an objection here.  One
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2   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

3         Q.     At the time that the CMU was opened

4   in 2006, what was the expected duration of CMU

5   placement?

6         A.     There was no expected duration of

7   placement.  The placement was based on a need to

8   continue to monitor the inmate's communications.

9         Q.     So it might be as short or as long

10   as the communications monitoring need continues ?

11         A.     That was the expectation, yes.

12         Q.     Is there currently an expected

13   duration for CMU placement?

14         A.     No.

15         Q.     Is there a general range?

16         A.     No.

17         Q.     Are CMU prisoners provided any

18   information regarding how long they can expect

19   to spend in the CMU?

20         A.     No, because there is no range,

21   there is no way to provide them with an

22   expectation, other than the regular program

23   reviews they go through which assess their

24   designation and consideration for the need for

25   that level of monitoring.
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2   Bureau of Prisons' interrogatory responses in

3   this case, is that the national policy being

4   referenced here includes two BOP program

5   statements: the program statement on inmate

6   classification and program review and the

7   program statement on inmate security designation

8   and classification.

9                Is that accurate, sir?

10         A.     Yes.

11         Q.     Are there any other program

12   statements being referred to in this sentence,

13   sir?

14         A.     No, I believe those are the two

15   relevant policies.

16         Q.     Okay.  Let's first turn to the

17   BOP's program statement on inmate classificatio n

18   and program review which is the document that's

19   been previously marked as Exhibit 141.

20         A.     Okay.

21         Q.     I understood your testimony -- I

22   understood your testimony to be that as a

23   general matter, one of the items that occurs in

24   a program review is consideration of whether an

25   inmate should be transferred out of the unit
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2   where the inmate currently is, correct?

3         A.     Correct.

4         Q.     Can you direct me to the portion of

5   this program statement that describes that

6   process?

7         A.     Well, the main section -- because

8   this talks -- this program statement talks about

9   the inmate classification and programming in the

10   institution and within the agency, so one of th e

11   main parts would be Section 8, Item a., The

12   purpose of initial classification is to develop

13   a program plan for the inmate during his or her

14   incarceration.

15                There's sections below that which

16   talk about ongoing reviews, such as in

17   Section b., The inmate's programming in the

18   institution will deal with his custody

19   classification and his designation to determine

20   if the inmate continues to be appropriate for

21   that facility and whether redesignation to

22   another appropriate facility is necessary or

23   appropriate.

24         Q.     I'm not seeing anything here that

25   actually talks about redesignation to a
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2   different facility.

3                So can you direct me specifically

4   to what you're talking about?

5         A.     I just did.  Part of programming at

6   the institution level in the Bureau of Prisons

7   has to do with designations and security level.

8                So when we talk about the

9   programming and the custody classification, it

10   would refer back to the other program statement

11   on custody classification and security

12   designations.

13         Q.     So first programming.

14                Where are the references to

15   programming in here specifically that you're

16   referring to?

17         A.     If you start at 8.a., The purpose

18   of initial classification is to develop a

19   program plan for the inmate during his or her

20   incarceration.  Program plan is going to includ e

21   review of their custody classification, their

22   security designation to make sure they're

23   appropriate for the facility they're at.

24                Continued at 8.b., which talks

25   about follow-up program reviews at the 180-day
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2   interval.

3         Q.     So the paragraph that begins with

4   b. that reads, At program reviews, progress in

5   recommended programs will be reviewed, and new

6   programs recommended based upon skills the

7   inmate has gained during incarceration.  Program

8   reviews occur at least once every 180 calendar

9   days.

10                Is it your testimony that that

11   paragraph refers to consideration of transfer t o

12   a different unit?

13         A.     Yes, because an inmate's

14   designation and custody classification is part

15   of their programming.

16         Q.     Anywhere else in this program

17   statement where the issue of redesignation to a

18   different unit is discussed?

19         A.     Well, anywhere in a program

20   statement where they talk about an inmate's

21   programming while incarcerated would include

22   designation and classification, even if it

23   doesn't specifically say that, because that is

24   part of the inmate's overall programming within

25   the Agency.
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2         Q.     Does this program statement provide

3   any notice to CMU prisoners about what they need

4   to do to gain release from a CMU?

5         A.     Well, this program statement, along

6   with the designations program statement,

7   discusses the program reviews and the criteria

8   for various types of designations.

9                So in -- in essence, it would.

10         Q.     Well, let's talk about this progra m

11   statement separately.  We're going to talk abou t

12   the classification one next.

13                Does this program statement provid e

14   any notice to CMU prisoners about how they can

15   gain release from a CMU?

16         A.     Well, this program statement talks

17   about program reviews, which as part of

18   programming encompasses designations.

19                So the factors for designations

20   would be identified more specifically in that

21   program statement.

22         Q.     Is that a no to my question?

23         A.     This -- this isn't a designation

24   program statement.  So, no, this doesn't talk

25   about criteria for designations, any
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2   designations, CMU or otherwise.

3         Q.     So let's look at the designation

4   and custody classification program statement,

5   which I believe is the document that's been

6   previously marked as Exhibit 112.

7                Do you have Exhibit 112 in front of

8   you?

9         A.     No, sorry not yet.

10                MR. CARTIER:  Sorry.

11                THE WITNESS:  So now I have it.

12   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

13         Q.     Thank you.

14                Does this program statement say

15   anything about how CMU prisoners will be

16   reviewed for transfer out of the CMU?

17         A.     Well, this program statement

18   discusses designation criteria for all inmates;

19   it doesn't specifically reference CMUs.  And th e

20   other program statements talks about reviews,

21   this talks about criteria for designations.

22         Q.     Is there anything in this program

23   statement that guides the process for review of

24   transfer out of the CMU?

25         A.     Well, sure, because this policy
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2         Q.     Why does it make sense for us to

3   talk --

4         A.     I'm sorry.  The CMU is a

5   specialized designation.  It happens to be a

6   unit, but it's a particular designation.

7         Q.     Okay.  So wouldn't it make sense

8   for us to use the term "redesignation" when

9   we're talking about the question of whether an

10   inmate is going to stay in the CMU or be moved

11   out of the CMU?

12         A.     Correct.

13         Q.     Okay.  What -- where in this

14   program statement in Exhibit 112 are

15   redesignations discussed?

16         A.     That would be in Chapter 7.  This

17   chapter talks about inmate transfers, and in th e

18   first sentence, it says, Transfers (also known

19   as redesignations).

20         Q.     So it's my understanding that this

21   chapter lists various type of -- types of

22   transfers or redesignations; is that accurate?

23         A.     Yes.

24         Q.     Can you please direct me to any of

25   the transfers which might be relevant to move a n
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2   inmate out of the CMU?

3                MR. CARTIER:  Again, we're

4         talking about the 2007 time period?

5                MS. MEEROPOL:  2007, yes.

6                THE WITNESS:  Well, any of the

7         transfers would be relevant to moving an

8         inmate out of the CMU; however, before

9         such a transfer was considered, a

10         judgment would have to be made that the

11         inmate didn't require the communication

12         monitoring afforded in a CMU before the

13         inmate was transferred to another

14         facility.

15   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

16         Q.     Is there anything in this program

17   statement that guides that process?

18         A.     Guides which process?

19         Q.     What you just said, the

20   determination that communications monitoring is

21   no longer required.

22         A.     That specific process was part of

23   the activation of the unit and formalized in th e

24   Dodrill memo.

25                So it's not in this program
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2   they would have -- designations would have been

3   decided at each regional level.

4         Q.     Between 2006 and mid-2009, did the

5   Terre Haute or Marion unit teams recommend any

6   CMU prisoners for nearer release transfers out

7   of the CMU?

8         A.     For nearer release transfers?

9         Q.     Yes.

10         A.     No.

11                I'm trying to get BOP slang square

12   in my mind.

13                The way I'm looking -- I'm thinkin g

14   about how I do things and how we do things now,

15   and there's different types of transfer codes.

16   So there's a process for transferring inmates

17   from programs and out of programs and then

18   making them available for other types of

19   transfers.

20                So the easiest way to put it is

21   the -- the inmates -- there were no inmates

22   referred for transfer.

23                Yeah.

24         Q.     Do you have an explanation as to

25   why there were no inmates referred for transfer
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2   until the Dodrill memo was issued?

3         A.     We did consider -- the CTU drafted

4   a consideration memo for one inmate, but there

5   were -- there were discussions ongoing as to how

6   the process would work for reviewing, first, the

7   inmate for removal from the CMU program to -- to

8   assess the need for communication monitoring in

9   regards to standard designation processes for

10   the program statement on designations.

11         Q.     So is it fair to say that no

12   inmates were referred for redesignations out of

13   the CMU prior to the Dodrill memo because the

14   policies weren't actually in place yet to

15   determine how that decision was going to be

16   made?

17         A.     No, I wouldn't characterize it tha t

18   way.  Everyone knew that the decision was still

19   going to be made by the regional director, who

20   was the approving authority.

21                The concern was identifying

22   the -- the -- the process which would encompass

23   the review to consider those inmates similarly

24   to how they were placed in the unit originally.

25                MS. MEEROPOL:  Can you read back
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2         that answer, please?

3                       -  -  -

4                (Whereupon, the court reporter

5                 read back the pertinent part of

6                 the record.)

7                       -  -  -

8   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

9         Q.     So is it fair to say that no

10   inmates were referred for redesignation out of

11   the CMU prior to the Dodrill memo because the

12   process for linking that consideration to the

13   reason for CMU placement had yet been made

14   explicit?

15         A.     I would -- I would say that's

16   accurate.  The -- the concern was the program

17   review, yes.

18         Q.     What was the impetus for the

19   Dodrill memo in 2009?

20         A.     What we just discussed.  It was a

21   means to formalize the process for staff for

22   their understanding; in particular, to notify

23   staff and designators that inmates were reviewe d

24   every program review, which is every six months ,

25   which put them outside of the typical policy
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2   considerations for the 18-month time frame

3   before they were eligible for designation.

4         Q.     Was the BOP working on creating

5   that process the entire -- let me start over.

6                Was the BOP working on creating

7   that process from the time that the CMU opened,

8   or did it only begin to create that process at

9   some later point?

10                MR. CARTIER:  Is this something

11         you need to take a break and discuss?

12                THE WITNESS:  I think so.

13                MR. CARTIER:  Okay.  We're

14         just -- I think there's a concern that

15         the answer might touch on privileged

16         communications, so --

17                MS. MEEROPOL:  Let me identify --

18         let me identify a couple of follow-up

19         questions I had in mind, and maybe you

20         can discuss if there are any or all of

21         the questions that -- that you can

22         answer so that we make the most

23         efficient use of your break time.

24                Really, what I have in mind to try

25         to understand is whether -- is why it
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2                MR. CARTIER:  No.

3                Do you need the question read

4         back?

5                THE WITNESS:  Yes, please.

6                       -  -  -

7                (Whereupon, the court reporter

8                 read back the pertinent part of

9                 the record.)

10                       -  -  -

11                THE WITNESS:  The BOP was working

12         to create that process from the time the

13         unit was opened.

14   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

15         Q.     Why did it take three years?

16         A.     I wish I could explain better how

17   Government processes work.  I mean, there's --

18   there's a lot of different levels of review.

19   You can consider similarly how long it's taken

20   for the proposed regulations to be reviewed and

21   approved.

22                So it's complicated in -- in the

23   Government.

24         Q.     All right.  You testified that the

25   CTU considered one prisoner for referral out of
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2   the CMU prior to the 2009 Dodrill memo.  And I

3   imagine that you're not going to be able to

4   testify as to the identity of that prisoner.

5                Was there something special about

6   that prisoner that led to him being the only one

7   considered during that three-year period?

8         A.     No.  Inmates are reviewed

9   individually based on their own history and

10   information which suggests their need for that

11   level of monitoring.  And that inmate happened

12   to be identified.

13         Q.     Who was he identified by?

14         A.     Originally, he was identified by

15   the unit team.

16         Q.     Did the CTU ultimately decide not

17   to recommend his transfer out of the CMU?  And

18   when I say "ultimately," I mean in the

19   pre-Dodrill period.

20         A.     No.  The referral wasn't routed as

21   the process was being undertaken to develop the

22   procedures in the Dodrill memo.  So it was held

23   until that time -- or after that time, actually .

24         Q.     Okay.  Let's turn to the Marion

25   Institution Supplement.  This is in Exhibit 181 .
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2                And let's turn to the

3   September 28th, 2009 Marion Institution

4   Supplement.

5                Please turn to the second page of

6   the Marion Institution Supplement.  It's Bates

7   stamped BOP CMU 64133.  And review to yourself

8   the paragraph that begins, Classification and

9   reviews of I Unit inmates will occur according

10   to national policy.

11                (Whereupon, the witness reviews th e

12                 material provided.)

13                THE WITNESS:  Okay.

14   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

15         Q.     Is this an accurate description of

16   the policy that was in place at Marion with

17   respect to CMU reviews from September 28th, 200 9

18   until the date of the next institution

19   supplement, which is dated August 29th, 2011?

20         A.     This is the documented policy whic h

21   they had published, but they were notified by

22   the CTU that their statements in this paragraph

23   were incorrect regarding these minimal time

24   frames.

25         Q.     Okay.  So please point me to each
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2   of the incorrect statements in this paragraph.

3         A.     On the third line, it says, After

4   the inmate has spent a minimum of 18 months in

5   the unit, but less than 24 months.

6         Q.     And then anything else?

7         A.     And near the bottom of the

8   paragraph, again, it says, Inmates are expected

9   to maintain clear conduct and have no sanctioned

10   incident reports for the 18- to 24-month period

11   to be recommended for transfer.

12         Q.     When was Marion informed that this

13   was an incorrect statement of policy?

14         A.     After they published this document

15   and it was made available to the CTU in the

16   Central Office.

17         Q.     Do you have a general time frame

18   for when that occurred?

19         A.     It would have been shortly after

20   the publication date.

21         Q.     Can you explain why the institutio n

22   supplement wasn't corrected until almost

23   two years later?

24         A.     Specifically, no.  The institution

25   was made aware -- I know staff relied on the
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2   national designation manual regarding

3   designation policy, because it was something

4   they had in writing that they could follow.

5                I know that staff were made aware

6   that this was incorrect and was not the practice

7   to be followed.

8         Q.     What practice was followed at

9   Marion between September 28th, 2009 and the next

10   institution supplement dated August 29th, 2011?

11         A.     The practices are those which were

12   formulated and outlined in the Dodrill memo,

13   which came out shortly after this document.

14         Q.     Are institution supplements

15   reviewed by the Bureau of Prisons prior to

16   publication?

17         A.     By "Bureau of Prisons," what do yo u

18   mean?  I mean, they're created by the

19   institution and approved by the warden, which

20   are part of the Bureau of Prisons.

21         Q.     So is there any review of

22   institution supplements above the warden level

23   prior to publication?

24         A.     The warden is the approving

25   authority for institution supplements, which ar e
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2   local policies.  The warden -- the warden may

3   seek review by regional counsel, but the final

4   decision authority is the warden.

5                Let me step back, too, just to --

6   there are other reviews of local policies which

7   would happen during institution -- what we call

8   program reviews, which are an audit of

9   policies -- an audit of practices and -- and

10   operations of an institution.

11                So relevant program statements

12   would have been reviewed during any of these

13   program reviews which occur at the institution

14   level for each of the identified divisions and

15   departments.

16         Q.     And who conducts the program

17   reviews?

18         A.     The Central Office has a program

19   review division which coordinates these reviews .

20   They have staff which -- the staff who will lea d

21   the reviews, but they pull subject matter

22   experts from the field, from various

23   institutions.

24         Q.     Okay.  Let's look at the

25   Terre Haute Institution Supplement dated
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2   October 22nd, 2009.  It's part of Exhibit 180.

3         A.     Okay.

4         Q.     Please turn to the second page of

5   that institution supplement.  It's Bates stamped

6   BOP CMU 76146.

7                Please review to yourself the

8   paragraph that begins, Classification and

9   reviews of CMU inmates.

10         A.     I'm sorry.  Could you read the

11   Bates stamp again, please?

12         Q.     CMU 76146.  It's the second page o f

13   the October 22nd, 2009 Terre Haute CMU

14   institution supplement.

15         A.     And the second paragraph, you said ?

16         Q.     Yes, the one that begins,

17   Classification and reviews of CMU inmates will

18   occur according to national policy.

19                (Whereupon, the witness reviews th e

20                 material provided.)

21                THE WITNESS:  Okay.

22   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

23         Q.     Is it fair to say that this

24   institution supplement is inaccurate in the sam e

25   way that the Marion Institution Supplement was
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2   inaccurate?

3         A.     Yes, correct.

4         Q.     And, again, what was the practice

5   in place at Terre Haute between October 22nd,

6   2009 and September 1st, 2011, the date of the

7   next Terre Haute Institution Supplement?

8         A.     The practice was to follow the

9   procedures outlined in the Dodrill memo.

10         Q.     Now, this institution supplement

11   postdates the Dodrill memo by about a week.

12                Does that indicate to you that the

13   Terre Haute institution staff, including the

14   warden, did not understand the meaning of the

15   2009 Dodrill memo?

16         A.     No.  The cyclical review process

17   for institution supplements is lengthy, and thi s

18   document would have been routed for review and

19   consideration prior to the issuance of that

20   memo, and would have been updated prior to that

21   memo being issued.

22         Q.     So it's your testimony that

23   Wardens Lockett and Marberry signed this

24   document on October 22nd, 2009 despite

25   understanding that it contradicted instructions
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2   in a manner consistent with sound correctional

3   factors, including an assessment of the threat

4   posed by the inmate, whether the inmate presents

5   a risk of harm to others or to the orderly

6   operation of the institution, and whether the

7   inmate still requires the degree of security and

8   monitoring afforded at a CMU.

9                And my -- my question is whether

10   that accurately describes the review that the

11   unit team was supposed to be conducting

12   post-Dodrill memo?

13         A.     Yes, I would say it's an accurate

14   summary of those factors.

15         Q.     Is there any requirement that CMU

16   inmates maintain clear conduct to be eligible

17   for redesignation out of the CMU?  And I'm

18   talking about during this time period,

19   post-Dodrill memo.

20         A.     There is no specific requirement

21   for clear conduct, but their conduct and

22   behavior would be reviewed as part of their

23   historical behavior and conduct and as part of

24   the review for the need for communication

25   monitoring that CMU afforded.
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2         what you're further asking.

3   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

4         Q.     Well, I can imagine an inmate who

5   was designated to the CMU based on offense

6   conduct, and his offense conduct may continue to

7   present a reason why CMU designation is

8   appropriate.

9                But when the unit team or the CTU

10   was considering whether he should be

11   redesignated, they actually made their decision

12   not based on his offense conduct, but based upo n

13   some incarceration conduct.

14                I'm saying -- I'm asking whether

15   this policy requires for that nonoffense conduc t

16   reason to be disclosed to the inmate?

17         A.     The policy requires that the

18   inmates be notified why they're still

19   appropriate to be placed in the CMU.  That's --

20   that's what it reads, and that's what it says.

21                The inmates are, by this policy, t o

22   be notified why they're believed to be

23   appropriate to be continued in the CMU.  That's

24   what they are notified for.

25         Q.     Does the policy require for an
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2   inmate to be told every reason why they are

3   still eligible -- why they are still appropriate

4   for continued CMU designation?

5         A.     Again, absent law enforcement

6   information or something the inmate wouldn't be

7   privy to, the policy doesn't specifically state

8   all, but it would be an expectation that the

9   inmate would be provided sufficient information

10   to file an administrative remedy challenging th e

11   decision.

12         Q.     What does that mean, "sufficient

13   information to" -- "to file an administrative

14   remedy challenge"?  What would make -- what

15   makes some level of information sufficient?

16         A.     If it could be released to the

17   inmate, other than law enforcement information,

18   then that should be provided to the inmate.

19         Q.     All the reasons should be provided

20   as long as it's not law enforcement sensitive?

21         A.     A summary of the reasons as -- as

22   outlined in the notice the inmate was originall y

23   provided, yes.

24         Q.     But what if the reasons for initia l

25   placement aren't the reasons why the inmate is
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2   being retained?

3         A.     Then the inmate should be made

4   aware of those, too.  If -- if there was conduct

5   in the CMU which would further support the

6   inmate's continued placement, then, yes, the

7   inmate should -- should be made aware of that.

8         Q.     Thank you.

9                Please turn to the document that's

10   been previously marked as Exhibit 149.

11                MR. CARTIER:  Do you need a break

12         or are you fine?

13                THE WITNESS:  Soon.

14                MR. CARTIER:  Rachel, in a little

15         bit, are we coming to a good point for a

16         break?

17                MS. MEEROPOL:  Sure.

18   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

19         Q.     Let me just ask about this documen t

20   and then take a break, as long as you're okay.

21                But, sir, if you need to take a

22   break earlier, we can do that.  It might be a

23   more natural breaking point after a few more

24   questions, but I'm happy to be flexible.

25         A.     I'm okay.  I can wait.
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2   meeting that unit staff had been applying the

3   instruction in the Dodrill memo appropriately?

4         A.     Yes, I believe they -- they

5   conducted the reviews appropriately.

6         Q.     Point 3 of the Notice to Inmates,

7   Exhibit 40, states that Additional information

8   to be considered includes whether the original

9   rationale for CMU designation has been

10   mitigated.

11                Do you see where I'm reading?

12         A.     Yes.

13         Q.     How is the unit team supposed to

14   assess whether the original rationale for CMU

15   designation has been mitigated?

16         A.     Well, it's based on the previous

17   sentence, which says that the reviews are done

18   consistent with correctional judgment and

19   security management.

20                It's an overall assessment of the

21   inmate as they have observed through programmin g

22   at the institution level.

23         Q.     Can you give me an example of how

24   an inmate mitigates the reasons for their

25   placement in the CMU, just a general example?
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2         A.     Well, it -- inmates are placed in

3   the unit based on specific information to a

4   particular inmate.  So staff would have to have

5   a -- make a judgment that the -- that the

6   reasons for the inmate being placed in that unit

7   no longer required that level of monitoring.

8                It's hard to try to break it down

9   generally when it's a case-by-case assessment

10   for each inmate.

11         Q.     Are there no general parameters

12   that you can provide me with to help me

13   understand this?

14         A.     Well, we have the Dodrill memo and

15   this notice, which explains the five criteria

16   and the information staff assess.

17         Q.     Well, the five criteria are the

18   reasons for original placement.  And my

19   understanding is that the unit team is tasked

20   with deciding whether those original reasons

21   have been mitigated.

22                And I want to understand how an

23   inmate mitigates the original -- the original

24   reasons for his placement.

25                You've stated that it's done on a
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2   case-by-case basis, and I understand that.

3                I'm trying to understand if there

4   were any general guidelines or parameters that

5   you can state to explain how an inmate mitigates

6   the original reasons for his placement.

7         A.     Well, along with these guidelines

8   and these memos we've talked about, the

9   institution policies for inmates to follow on

10   programming, the discipline policy, the

11   communication policies that inmates are aware

12   of, would all be relevant to the assessment.

13         Q.     So does an inmate mitigate the

14   original reasons for his placement by

15   maintaining clear conduct and programming

16   appropriately?

17         A.     That could be part of the overall

18   assessment, yes.

19         Q.     How long does an inmate have to

20   maintain clear conduct and program appropriatel y

21   to mitigate the reasons for his placement?

22         A.     There is no set time frame.

23         Q.     Is there anything else general tha t

24   you can cite to to explain what an inmate has t o

25   do to mitigate the reasons for his placement
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2   besides clear conduct and appropriate

3   programming?

4         A.     Like I said, it's based on a

5   case-by-case basis.  So it would depend on what

6   information is used to support that particular

7   inmate's placement.

8         Q.     Are CMU inmates told how they can

9   mitigate the reasons for their initial

10   placement?

11         A.     Well, the inmates can discuss

12   the -- the information in their notice with the

13   unit team.  They can discuss it with any staff

14   that entered the unit, and they have access to

15   the administrative remedy.

16         Q.     Well, that wasn't really my

17   question.

18                I understand inmates can discuss

19   this with their unit teem.

20                My question is, are they provided

21   with any affirmative information about what

22   steps they could take to mitigate the reason fo r

23   their original CMU placement?

24         A.     Well, yes.  They're given the

25   notice which explains why they were placed in
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2   the unit.  They would then be able to determine

3   from that information why they were placed in

4   the unit and what they would have to do to be

5   transferred.

6         Q.     Well, what about a notice that

7   merely refers to offense conduct?  Does a notice

8   of that nature provide any information to a CMU

9   inmate as to what steps he could take to

10   mitigate the reasons for his placement?

11         A.     Sure.  If -- if the reason for his

12   placement was relevant to his offense conduct,

13   the inmate would have to not engage in similar

14   conduct or be involved in similar information

15   that was included in that notice.

16         Q.     And how long must he refrain from

17   engaging in conduct similar to his offense

18   conduct to mitigate his -- the reasons for his

19   original placement?

20         A.     There's no time frame.  It is an

21   assessment and a judgment based on a

22   case-by-case basis.

23         Q.     Looking at Paragraph 4 of

24   Exhibit 40, it indicates that the unit team

25   forwards their recommendation to the warden.
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2                And then is it accurate to say that

3   the next step after the unit team forwards their

4   recommendation is for the warden to consider

5   that recommendation and decide whether he or she

6   concurs with it?

7         A.     Yes, correct.

8         Q.     Does this require the unit team to

9   make an independent initial recommendation apart

10   from the warden?

11         A.     Yes.  The purpose and expectation

12   is for the unit team to make an assessment.

13         Q.     Now, I understand that in the even t

14   that the warden concurs with a unit team's

15   recommendation for placement, then that

16   recommendation will be forwarded to the CTU.

17                Correct?

18         A.     Yes, correct.

19         Q.     If a warden disagrees with the uni t

20   team's recommendation for redesignation, does

21   that end the review process?

22         A.     Yes, correct.

23         Q.     Need the warden state the reasons

24   for his or her decision to concur or disagree

25   with the unit team recommendation?
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2         A.     No.  I don't know whether the

3   warden is required to document his reason/her

4   reason.

5         Q.     Now, assuming that the warden and

6   the unit team recommend redesignation from the

7   CMU and that recommendation going to the CTU, is

8   the CTU supposed to consider the facility

9   recommendation in coming to their

10   recommendation, or is the CTU supposed to make

11   an independent recommendation?

12         A.     It's actually both.  The CTU shoul d

13   consider the institution's information because

14   they consider factors, obviously, the CTU

15   doesn't have access to by not being at the

16   institution.  And the CTU will make an

17   assessment based on information at our level.

18         Q.     Paragraph 4 goes on to state that

19   The CTU will forward the final recommendation t o

20   the regional director, North Central Region, fo r

21   further review and consideration.

22                What does the word "final" indicat e

23   in that sentence?

24         A.     It's just an indication that at

25   that point, the packet has been completed
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2   Dodrill memo.

3         A.     Yes.

4         Q.     When does the first unit team

5   meeting occur?

6         A.     The first unit team meeting occurs

7   28 days after an arrival at an institution.

8         Q.     Are there any circumstances in

9   which a unit team could recommend a CMU prisoner

10   for transfer out of the CMU at an initial team

11   meeting?

12         A.     Sure.  The review is designed to

13   determine if the conditions warranting CMU

14   placement are present.  If they're no longer

15   present, then the unit team could recommend

16   transfer.

17         Q.     So it's possible they could no

18   longer be present even after just one month at

19   the CMU?

20         A.     I would say it's possible, sure.

21         Q.     Okay.  Let's turn to the

22   September 1st, 2011 Terre Haute Institution

23   Supplement.  This is in Exhibit 180, and the

24   first page is Bates stamped BOP CMU 1526.

25         A.     Okay.
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2         Q.     The second -- please turn to the

3   second page of the institution supplement and

4   review to yourself the paragraph that begins,

5   Classification and reviews of CMU inmates.  It's

6   Bates stamped BOP CMU 1527.

7                (Whereupon, the witness reviews the

8                 material provided.)

9                THE WITNESS:  Okay.

10   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

11         Q.     Is this a correct policy statement ?

12   And by "correct," once again, I mean consistent

13   with the Dodrill memo.

14         A.     No.  There's parts of this which

15   are not consistent with the Dodrill memo.

16         Q.     All right.  Can you please point m e

17   to each of those parts?

18         A.     Well, the second half of the secon d

19   sentence which reads, And after the unit team

20   has had ample time to monitor the inmate's

21   institutional adjustment, program progress,

22   responsibility, and to verify the inmate is not

23   engaging in activities that warranted the

24   initial CMU placement.

25                Further down --
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2         Q.     Starting just with that first,

3   what's incorrect about that sentence?

4         A.     There is no ample time that the

5   unit team has to monitor the inmate.  The

6   monitoring reviews are done in -- in conjunction

7   with the program reviews, which are done every

8   six months after the initial review.

9         Q.     Okay.  And then you were going to

10   direct me to the next error, I believe?

11         A.     Near the bottom, the Inmates are

12   expected to maintain clear conduct and have no

13   sanctioned incident reports for the 12-month

14   period prior to their review, regardless of

15   designation, to be recommended for transfer.

16         Q.     And what's incorrect about this

17   statement?

18         A.     It's inconsistent with the Dodrill

19   memo, which there -- the Dodrill memo does not

20   provide for a review period, a minimum time in

21   the unit or -- or clear conduct.

22                MS. MEEROPOL:  You guys are

23         breaking up a little bit.  I think

24         maybe -- let me just wait a minute and

25         see if the connection clears before we
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2   September 1st, 2011 Terre Haute Institution

3   Supplement -- in that paragraph, I'm sorry, that

4   we've been looking at?

5         A.     No, I don't believe so.

6         Q.     Do you have any explanation for

7   why, almost two years after the Dodrill memo was

8   issued, the Terre Haute Institution Supplement

9   is still incorrect?

10         A.     My recollection is they had a

11   change in staff.  They -- they had a new unit

12   manager come in who, again, was not familiar

13   with CMU policies, who was more familiar with

14   national policy, and that's what he tended to

15   relate to.

16                MS. MEEROPOL:  Okay.  I'd like to

17         mark for identification Exhibit --

18   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

19         Q.     Sorry.  Actually, before I do that ,

20   let me ask this:  Has there been a new

21   Terre Haute Institution Supplement issued

22   since -- give me one moment, please.

23                (Pause.)

24   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

25         Q.     Let's take a look at the next
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2   Terre Haute Institution Supplement, which is

3   dated May 31st, 2012.  And turn to the second

4   page, which is Bates stamped BOP CMU 64124.

5                And please review that same

6   paragraph which begins, Classification and

7   reviews of CMU inmates.

8                (Whereupon, the witness reviews the

9                 material provided.)

10                THE WITNESS:  Okay.

11   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

12         Q.     Are there any errors in this

13   paragraph?

14         A.     Yes.  The same two errors exist in

15   this paragraph.

16         Q.     Okay.  Do you have an explanation

17   as to why these errors still haven't been

18   corrected?

19         A.     No.  My only explanation would be

20   just a failure of staff to adequately review an d

21   update the policy.

22         Q.     Is this the current Terre Haute

23   Institution Supplement for the CMU?

24         A.     The top of my head, I'm not

25   certain.  I don't -- I don't recall another one
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2   being issued in 2013, though it should have

3   been.  I would have to check.

4         Q.     Okay.  I'm going to assume from

5   your answer that this is the current Terre Haute

6   Institution Supplement.  If that's incorrect,

7   I'll ask you to indicate that when you have a

8   chance to review and sign this transcript.

9                Okay?

10         A.     Yes.

11                MS. MEEROPOL:  Okay.  Let's mark

12         for identification Exhibit 182, which is

13         a form titled, Review for Continued CMU

14         Designation.

15                And, Nick, this is going to be the

16         document that was marked as 181 at

17         Baird's deposition.

18                       -  -  -

19               (Whereupon, Review for Continued

20                CMU Designation was marked, for

21                identification purposes, as

22                Exhibit Deposition Exhibit

23                Number 182.)

24                       -  -  -

25                THE WITNESS:  Okay.
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2   after a final decision was made by the regional

3   director and the designation was formalized in

4   our computer system.

5         Q.     Would that be a written

6   notification at that point or a verbal

7   notification?

8         A.     It would be verbal.

9                MS. MEEROPOL:  Okay.  I'd like to

10         mark for identification Exhibit 183.

11         This is two documents, both dated

12         December 30th, 2013 from M. Bayless, CMU

13         Unit Manager.

14                Nick, I believe you'll find copies

15         of the documents in the folder marked

16         Review Receipts or something to that

17         nature.

18                       -  -  -

19               (Whereupon, a letter was marked,

20                for identification purposes, as

21                Deposition Exhibit Number 183.)

22                       -  -  -

23                (Whereupon, the witness reviews th e

24                 material provided.)

25
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2   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

3         Q.     Sir, can you identify this document

4   for me?

5         A.     This appears to be a notice given

6   to an inmate regarding continued CMU

7   designation.

8         Q.     Is the review referred to in this

9   memo the unit team's review or the entire unit

10   team, CTU NCRO, redesignation review?

11         A.     It could be either.

12         Q.     Is it fair to say that the inmate

13   is not provided with the reason his -- for his

14   continued CMU designation in this memo?

15         A.     No.  The second paragraph

16   identifies factors that were considered which

17   were believed to support continued CMU

18   placement.

19         Q.     So this notice fulfills the Dodril l

20   memo's requirement that inmates denied

21   redesignation from a CMU will be notified in

22   writing by the unit team of the reasons for

23   continued CMU designation?

24         A.     It does, yes.

25         Q.     Let's look again at Exhibit 113,
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2   Communications Management Unit.  Currently, the

3   Bureau of Prisons operates two CMUs, separately

4   located at Terre Haute and Marion.

5         Q.     You don't read that paragraph to

6   indicate that the proposed rule is describing

7   procedures currently in place?  That's how I

8   read codifies and describes; but if you read it

9   differently, please feel free to tell me so.

10         A.     Yeah, I read it differently,

11   because this is a proposal to create a

12   regulation which would outline these policies

13   formally.  It doesn't say it's based on what is

14   currently being done; it just says it is

15   describing policies to be formalized and

16   approved in the regulation for CMUs.

17         Q.     Okay.  Let's turn to the second

18   page of the proposed rule and look at the secon d

19   full paragraph that begins, Under this

20   regulation.

21                Do you see where I am reading?

22         A.     I'm sorry, no.

23                The second page, you said?

24         Q.     The second page, the second full

25   paragraph.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-6   Filed 04/23/14   Page 130 of 264



212-400-8845 - depo@transperfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 195

1                  DAVID C. SCHIAVONE

2         A.     Okay.

3         Q.     Under this regulation, initial

4   consideration of inmates, do you see that, sir?

5         A.     Yes.

6         Q.     Okay.  Read that paragraph to

7   yourself, please.

8                (Whereupon, the witness reviews the

9                 material provided.)

10                THE WITNESS:  Okay.

11   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

12         Q.     Now, this describes a different

13   process than the BOP is currently using with

14   respect to CMU designations, correct?

15         A.     Correct.

16         Q.     Why isn't the CMU currently using

17   this process being described in the proposed

18   rule?

19         A.     At the time the unit was opened, i t

20   was decided to have the regional director make

21   the decisions.  The regional director was, I

22   believe, still, at the same time, making

23   decisions for the ADX, and the Bureau's

24   designation center was coming online to

25   centralize all designations.
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2                A decision was made with this

3   policy to continue to centralize designations at

4   the Central Office level.

5                The assistant director actually has

6   oversight of the national designation center.

7         Q.     Are there any other facilities

8   within the Bureau of Prisons that use a review

9   policy similar to what we've been discussing

10   that's actually in place at the CMU?

11         A.     Well, we discussed earlier the

12   reviews for the administrative unit, the SMUs,

13   the ADX.  They are in some way similar.

14         Q.     Well, I think we had that

15   discussion about designation, not review.

16                So I'm asking the separate questio n

17   of do you consider CMU -- the CMU review proces s

18   to be similar to SMU, ADX and Carswell review

19   processes?

20         A.     They are similar in some aspects,

21   but those units are different because they're

22   for security reasons.  And the criteria for

23   placement in those units are -- are different

24   than a CMU.

25         Q.     And why do those differences lead
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2   watch was used for inmates in the six-month

3   step-down process?

4         A.     That's a local decision.  It's not

5   a requirement.  It's based on institution staff

6   assessment of security needs for that facility.

7                MS. MEEROPOL:  I'd like to mark

8         for identification Exhibit 184.  This is

9         Daniel McGowan's designation packet.

10         It's the document that was previously

11         marked as 182 at Baird's deposition.

12         The first page is BOP CMU 3384.

13                       -  -  -

14               (Whereupon, CMU MAR Review for

15                Daniel McGowan was marked, for

16                identification purposes, as

17                Deposition Exhibit Number 184.)

18                       -  -  -

19   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

20         Q.     Sir, I've added page numbers at th e

21   upper right-hand corner of this document for

22   ease of our discussion.

23                Other than those page numbers, is

24   this a true and correct copy of the designation

25   packet created by the CTU and used by the North
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2   Central Regional Director to determine whether

3   Daniel McGowan should be designated to the CMU?

4                MR. CARTIER:  Can we go off the

5         record for one moment?  Is that okay?

6                MS. MEEROPOL:  Sure.

7                (Whereupon, a discussion was held

8                 off the record.)

9                       -  -  -

10   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

11         Q.     So Exhibit 184 is a compilation of

12   documents that Government counsel has identifie d

13   as the designation packet for Daniel McGowan.

14                I'm going to ask you, at the time

15   that you review and sign your deposition

16   transcript, if you learn that that is not the

17   case, to please indicate as much.

18                Okay?

19         A.     Okay.

20         Q.     And my questions are going to go

21   forward based on the assumption that this is th e

22   complete Daniel McGowan designation packet.

23                Okay?

24         A.     Okay.

25         Q.     Does this packet include all the
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2   material that the CTU relied on to recommend

3   Daniel McGowan's CMU designation?

4                (Whereupon, the witness reviews the

5                 material provided.)

6                THE WITNESS:  No, this doesn't

7         include all the information that the CTU

8         relied on.

9   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

10         Q.     What information is excluded?

11         A.     Well, not excluded, but not

12   included for -- for the regional review were

13   actual copies of his correspondence, these

14   letters, and these other pieces of individual

15   communication.

16         Q.     I'm sorry.  I didn't understand

17   your response there.

18                Are you saying there's stuff in

19   this packet that was not part of the CTU's

20   designation packet?

21         A.     No.

22                What I'm saying is that the

23   referral memo summarizes items which were not

24   produced with the packet; they were just

25   summarized.
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2         Q.     Okay.  I understand.

3                And those items were

4   Daniel McGowan's correspondence while

5   incarcerated?

6         A.     Looking at the memo, yes,

7   correspondence, these interviews, his

8   communications, letters, correct.

9         Q.     Why weren't those documents

10   included in the designation packet?

11         A.     We believed we could adequately

12   summarize their content here in the memo withou t

13   providing the actual documents themselves.

14                If the -- if the people reviewing

15   the packet wanted to see them, we could have

16   made them available.

17         Q.     We talked much earlier in the day

18   about the fact that you include the presentence

19   investigation report despite summarizing the

20   contents of an individual's conviction.

21                How come that kind of underlying

22   document is included in the designation packet

23   but not this other type of underlying document?

24         A.     Well, the presentence report is

25   historically been used for all designations
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2   Daniel McGowan's designation that does not

3   appear in this designation packet?

4         A.     We utilize and I believe we

5   produced the press releases from the Department

6   of Justice regarding the offense conduct.

7         Q.     Okay.

8                MS. MEEROPOL:  Why don't we mark

9         those press releases as Exhibit 185?

10                       -  -  -

11               (Whereupon, a packet of press

12                releases was marked, for

13                identification purposes, as

14                Deposition Exhibit Number 185.)

15                       -  -  -

16                MR. CARTIER:  How are those

17         identified?

18                THE WITNESS:  Can I take a minute

19         while you're pulling that?

20                MR. CARTIER:  Sure, go ahead.

21                MS. MEEROPOL:  It should be one

22         of the folders near the top.  Maybe it

23         has press releases.

24                MR. CARTIER:  Okay.  I'm looking.

25                Can we go off the record for a
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2   a summary, sure.

3         Q.     Is an indictment an appropriate

4   thing for the CTU to rely upon in making a -- a

5   CMU designation recommendation?

6                MR. CARTIER:  You can answer.

7                THE WITNESS:  I thought you were

8         going to say something.

9                MR. CARTIER:  I was inhaling.

10                THE WITNESS:  It -- it's part of

11         the inmate's overall history, so it

12         would be a relevant document to consider

13         and review.

14   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

15         Q.     Even though it hasn't yet been

16   proven?

17         A.     It depends on each individual case

18   and how relevant it is to the management and

19   security of the Bureau of Prisons.

20         Q.     So there are occasions in which it

21   would be appropriate for the CTU to rely on

22   statements in an indictment that have not yet

23   been proven -- proven to recommend an individua l

24   for CMU placement?

25                MR. CARTIER:  You can answer.
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2                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  The Bureau of

3         Prisons has to manage inmates based on

4         available information, so any relevant

5         information provided regarding that

6         inmate would be relevant to the

7         management of that inmate.

8   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

9         Q.     In the CTU memo in the paragraph

10   where you describe Mr. McGowan's offense conduc t

11   and in the triangle bullet points describing

12   Mr. McGowan's offense conduct, does the CTU

13   distinguish between information found in the

14   indictment and information proven at trial or i n

15   some other form?

16         A.     The only basis for this referral i s

17   the conduct proven at trial.

18         Q.     And I should say I don't believe

19   there actually was a trial in the case, so let' s

20   say "proven" as opposed to "proven at trial."

21         A.     The court -- the court documents

22   relevant to his conviction.

23                How's that?

24         Q.     Sounds good to me.

25                Why did the CTU recommend
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2   Mr. McGowan for CMU designation?

3         A.     Well, as outlined in this memo,

4   there were concerns based on his incarceration

5   conduct through his communications which related

6   to his offense conduct.

7         Q.     So is it a fair summary to say that

8   the CTU recommended Mr. McGowan for designation

9   to a CMU based on his affiliation with ALF and

10   ELF, his offense conduct and his communication

11   while incarcerated?

12         A.     The referral is based on the

13   overall information, the historical information

14   based on his offense conduct and his

15   incarceration conduct in whole.

16         Q.     Is there something that's not

17   accurate about the way I summarized it?

18         A.     Your statement about his

19   affiliation with ALF and ELF is a relevant

20   factor, but it's not something that we would sa y

21   a singular identifier that would place an inmat e

22   in a CMU.

23         Q.     So is it -- would you be more

24   comfortable with a summary that stated that the

25   CTU recommended Mr. McGowan for designation to a
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2   CMU based on his offense conduct and his

3   communication while incarcerated?

4         A.     I believe that's what I said; it's

5   based on his offense conduct and his

6   incarceration conduct as a whole.

7         Q.     And his incarceration conduct, did

8   that involve anything apart from communications?

9         A.     No; it was the content of his

10   communications.

11         Q.     Okay.  Let's look at the last page

12   of Daniel McGowan's designation packet, which

13   I've numbered as Page 79.  It's Bates stamped

14   BOP CMU 67482.

15                Is this a true and correct copy of

16   the draft notice to inmate of transfer which wa s

17   created for -- for Daniel McGowan's designation

18   packet by the CTU?

19         A.     To my knowledge, it is.

20         Q.     Why is there no reference in this

21   notice to Daniel McGowan's communications while

22   incarcerated?

23         A.     I wish I had a specific answer.  I t

24   certainly was relevant in the referral.  And

25   through review, a determination was made that
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2   this was the most relevant information to put in

3   this notice in the limited space available.

4         Q.     Is it your testimony that reference

5   to Daniel McGowan's communications while

6   incarcerated was left off because there wasn't

7   room on the form?

8         A.     No.  A decision was made based on

9   the summary of the information which was most

10   relevant and appropriate for his designation,

11   which ended up on this final form.

12         Q.     Who made that decision?

13         A.     Well, the final decision, like I

14   said, is the warden's signature, but it goes

15   through a review of all of the different person s

16   in the process, and they all have comments and

17   consideration on the form.

18         Q.     Well, I thought this document, thi s

19   unsigned version at BOP CMU 67482, was generate d

20   by the CTU.

21         A.     The original version would have

22   been generated by the CTU, yes.

23         Q.     Was there a version of

24   Daniel McGowan's notice to inmate of transfer

25   that made reference to his communications while

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-6   Filed 04/23/14   Page 142 of 264



212-400-8845 - depo@transperfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 240

1                  DAVID C. SCHIAVONE

2         Q.     Is this a true and correct copy of

3   Mr. Smith's March 22nd, 2010 memo recommending

4   against Daniel McGowan's transfer out of the

5   CMU?

6         A.     It appears to be, yes.

7         Q.     Does this memo document the first

8   time the CTU considered whether Daniel McGowan

9   should be transferred out of the CMU?

10         A.     I believe it does, yes.

11         Q.     Why did the CTU recommend against

12   Mr. McGowan's transfer?

13                MR. CARTIER:  I'll just -- you

14         can answer, but don't reveal any law

15         enforcement sensitive information.

16                THE WITNESS:  Okay.

17                MS. MEEROPOL:  Nick, could you

18         speak up a little bit with your

19         objections?

20                MR. CARTIER:  Yeah.  I said -- I

21         said you can answer, but I was

22         instructing the witness not to reveal

23         privileged law enforcement information.

24                THE WITNESS:  Well, it's detailed

25         in the memo that the CTU believed that
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2         McGowan's communications continued to

3         warrant the level of monitoring afforded

4         by a CMU.

5   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

6         Q.     And what was that based on?

7         A.     It was based on his communications

8   while incarcerated.

9         Q.     I'm looking at the first two

10   paragraphs on BOP CMU 5031.

11                Do those two paragraphs summarize

12   the -- why the CTU decided to recommend against

13   Daniel McGowan's transfer?

14                MR. CARTIER:  And let me state

15         for the record -- I mean, given the

16         nature of Rachel's question, again, the

17         instruction not to reveal the substance

18         of any law enforcement information, but

19         to answer that question, I believe it's

20         appropriate to identify if law

21         enforcement information was also part of

22         your recommendation.

23                So subject to that, you can answer

24         the question.

25                MS. MEEROPOL:  I mean, honestly,

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-6   Filed 04/23/14   Page 144 of 264



212-400-8845 - depo@transperfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 247

1                  DAVID C. SCHIAVONE

2                -- an open population without

3   posing risk to institutional security.

4         Q.     What was the basis for the North

5   Central Regional Director's decision?

6         A.     Absent asking him directly, I would

7   believe it was the information provided which he

8   reviewed from the unit team and the CTU.

9         Q.     You're assuming that was his basis,

10   but is it fair to say that you can't tell from

11   the document whether that was his basis or not?

12         A.     He didn't write specifically what

13   he based his decision on, no.

14         Q.     Okay.

15                MS. MEEROPOL:  I'd like to mark

16         for identification Exhibit 186.  This is

17         the document that was previously marked

18         as 183 at Mr. Baird's deposition.

19                It's an April 9th, 2010 memo for

20         Lisa Hollingsworth, Bates stamped

21         BOP CMU 3531.

22                       -  -  -

23               (Whereupon, a memorandum was

24                marked, for identification

25                purposes, as Deposition Exhibit
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2                Number 186.)

3                       -  -  -

4   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

5         Q.     Please take a moment to review the

6   document, sir.

7                (Whereupon, the witness reviews the

8                 material provided.)

9                THE WITNESS:  Okay.

10   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

11         Q.     Can you identify this document?

12         A.     It appears to be the written notic e

13   provided to Inmate McGowan regarding his denial

14   for transfer from a CMU.

15         Q.     Yesterday, we talked at length

16   about the Dodrill memo, Exhibit 115.  And the

17   fifth paragraph in that memo indicated that

18   inmates denied redesignation from a CMU will be

19   notified in writing by the unit team of the

20   reasons for continued CMU designation.

21                You're welcome to look at the

22   exhibit if you'd like, but I've just quoted it

23   to you.

24                Is this the notification that memo

25   requires?
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2         A.     It's the notification the memo

3   requires; however, it doesn't include the

4   reasons why the inmate was determined to be

5   appropriate to continue in a CMU.

6         Q.     In other words, it doesn't comply

7   with the Dodrill memo policy statement?

8         A.     It complies with the policy by

9   notifying the inmate in writing, but it's

10   incomplete.

11         Q.     Okay.  Please turn in Exhibit 30,

12   still to the next page after the NCRO review

13   form we had been discussing, and take a look at

14   the August 2nd, 2010 Kelly memo,

15   Bates stamped BOP CMU 3394.

16                Are you there, sir?

17         A.     I have it, yes.

18         Q.     Does this memo document the next

19   time that Daniel McGowan's unit team considered

20   whether he should be transferred out of the CMU ?

21   And when I say "the next time," I mean the time

22   directly after the March memo we discussed just

23   a few minutes ago.

24         A.     I wouldn't be able to tell that

25   without looking at the inmate's program review
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2         Q.     Do you have any reason to believe

3   that he did document his reasons anywhere?

4         A.     No.  This would be the location

5   where he would make his comments.

6         Q.     Please flip several pages further

7   in Exhibit 30 to the February 1st, 2011 Smith

8   memo, Bates stamped BOP CMU 5023.

9         A.     Okay.

10         Q.     Is this a true and correct copy of

11   the February 1st, 2011 CTU memo recommending

12   Mr. McGowan's redesignation back into the CMU?

13         A.     I believe it is, yes.

14         Q.     What was the basis for that

15   recommendation?

16         A.     Well, it summarized in the memo th e

17   CTU believed Inmate McGowan's institution

18   conduct still supported and advocated for the

19   use of criminal activity and -- and direct

20   action in support of radical environmental

21   groups, plus he attempted to violate policies b y

22   circumventing communication monitoring and lega l

23   mail privileges -- legal mail policies.

24         Q.     Please turn to the CTU referral

25   form which follows the CTU memo.  It's dated
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2                Deposition Exhibit Number 187.)

3                       -  -  -

4   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

5         Q.     Sir, please take a moment to review

6   the document and tell me if this is a true and

7   correct copy of the designation packet created

8   by the CTU and used by the North Central

9   Regional Director to determine whether

10   Yassin Aref should be designated to the CMU.

11                And, once again, I will state to

12   you that this is a packet that I put together

13   based on Government counsel's statements about

14   what documents appeared in the packet.  And if

15   you later discover, at the time that you review

16   and sign the deposition transcript, that the

17   packet was not complete, I'll ask you to

18   indicate that on your errata form.

19                (Whereupon, the witness reviews th e

20                 material provided.)

21                THE WITNESS:  Well, this packet

22         doesn't have a copy of the statement of

23         reasons, and I would have to verify

24         whether that was available and provided.

25         It ordinarily is.  I don't recall
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2         specifically if it was in this case.  So

3         I would have to check.

4   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

5         Q.     I'll ask you to please check at the

6   time that you review the transcript to indicate

7   if the statement of reasons should have been

8   included in this designation packet.

9                Okay?

10         A.     Okay.

11         Q.     Leaving the statement of reasons - -

12                MR. CARTIER:  I'm just going to

13         formally request the right for the

14         witness to review and sign the

15         transcript before we forget that.

16   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

17         Q.     Leaving aside the possibility that

18   the statement of reasons was also included in

19   the designation packet, does this packet includ e

20   all the other material the CTU relied on to

21   recommend Yassin Aref's CMU designation?

22         A.     Yes, it appears that it does.

23         Q.     Does it contain all the material

24   the CTU considered in deciding whether to

25   recommend Yassin Aref for a CMU designation?
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2   statement?

3         A.     The CTU based that statement on the

4   presentence report.

5         Q.     Why did the CTU recommend Mr. Aref

6   for CTU?

7         A.     Well, as described in this memo and

8   based on his offense conduct, Aref had

9   significant communication and contact with

10   different terrorist organizations or entities

11   which we believed warranted heightened

12   monitoring of his communications.

13         Q.     I'm sorry.  Was that two different

14   bases there, his offense conduct and then his

15   association to other terrorist organizations, or

16   are those the same thing?

17         A.     Well, his offense conduct was based

18   on the -- on the incident which he was convicted

19   for.  The presentence report describes these

20   other ties and associations to these other

21   terrorist organizations and groups.

22         Q.     So is it accurate to say that the

23   CMU based its recommendation on his offense

24   conduct, his links to 

25    the
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2   Islamic movement in Kurdistan, the information

3   that his name and telephone number were found in

4   three different Ansar al-Islam camps, and his

5   diary entries, and a 1994 speech?

6         A.     Well, the CTU made the

7   recommendation based on that information as

8   summarized here and found in the presentence

9   report.

10         Q.     Okay.  Please flip to the last pag e

11   of the designation packet, which is the unsigne d

12   Yassin Aref notice to inmate of transfer to

13   Communications Management Unit.

14                Are you there, sir?

15         A.     The document 2938?

16         Q.     That's right.

17         A.     Yes.

18         Q.     Is this a true and correct copy of

19   the notice to inmate of transfer created for

20   Yassin Aref's designation packet by the CTU?

21         A.     I believe it is, yes.

22         Q.     Please review the inmate specific

23   portion of the notice and tell me when you're

24   ready.

25                (Whereupon, the witness reviews th e
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2   on this form.

3         Q.     Okay.  Let's turn to Exhibit 32 in

4   the previously marked exhibits.

5                Please turn to the sixth page of

6   the exhibit, which is the notice to inmate of

7   transfer to Communications Management Unit,

8   Bates stamped P1199.

9         A.     Okay.

10         Q.     Does this notice indicate the

11   reasons why Mr. Nalley approved Yassin Aref for

12   designation to the CMU?

13         A.     No, this document doesn't.

14         Q.     What does this document indicate?

15   Whose reasons does this document reflect?

16         A.     No.  This document reflects

17   information which supports the inmate's

18   placement in a CMU.

19         Q.     But it's possible that Mr. Nalley

20   approved him for designation to the CMU based o n

21   a completely different reason?

22         A.     You'd have to ask Mr. Nalley what

23   his reasoning was.

24         Q.     So look at the next page of

25   Exhibit 32, please, which is the October 1st,
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2   the memo, which is Bates stamped 3295.

3                And allow me to direct your

4   attention to the warden's handwritten comments.

5                Does this document the first time

6   that Yassin Aref's warden considered whether he

7   should be transferred out of the CMU?

8         A.     I believe it is, yes.

9         Q.     Now, please look at the next page

10   of Exhibit 32, which is an October 25th, 2010

11   Smith memo, Bates stamped BOP CMU 3278.

12                Is this a true and correct copy of

13   the CTU October 2010 memo recommending

14   Yassin Aref's transfer out of the CMU?

15         A.     I believe it is, yes.

16         Q.     Does the memo document the first

17   time the CTU considered whether Yassin Aref

18   should be transferred out of the CMU?

19         A.     I believe it does, yes.

20         Q.     Why did the CTU recommend in favor

21   of Yassin Aref's transfer?

22         A.     Well, based on the memo and the

23   summary that the CTU provided, it was a belief

24   that the inmate no longer warranted the

25   communication controls and monitoring of a CMU.
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2         Q.     What was the basis for that belief?

3         A.     Law enforcement review of his

4   conduct, his behavior and a correctional

5   judgment.

6         Q.     Please turn to the next memo, which

7   is an October 26th, 2010 Smith memo,

8   Bates stamped BOP CMU 5012.  We're still in

9   Exhibit 32.

10                Is this a true and correct copy of

11   the CTU's October 26th, 2010 memo now

12   recommending against Yassin Aref's transfer fro m

13   the CMU?

14         A.     I believe it is, yes.

15         Q.     And why did the CTU change their

16   recommendation?

17         A.     Between submission of the first

18   memo and this memo, law enforcement sensitive

19   information was obtained which suggested the

20   inmate still required the controls of a CMU.

21         Q.     Was Yassin Aref -- was Yassin Aref

22   ever informed that confidential information was

23   being relied upon to support his continued CMU

24   designation?

25         A.     It was law enforcement sensitive
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2   But usually, inmates are not informed of ongoing

3   investigations.

4         Q.     What was the eventual outcome of

5   this investigation?

6                MR. CARTIER:  I'm just going to

7         caution the witness not to reveal law

8         enforcement information.  But can you

9         answer that question?

10                THE WITNESS:  The only thing I

11         can say without specifically identifying

12         the outcome of the investigation was

13         that the inmate was later submitted for

14         redesignation from a CMU, which was then

15         approved.

16                MS. MEEROPOL:  I'd like to mark

17         for identification Exhibit 189, which is

18         a November 10th, 2010 memo for

19         Lisa Hollingsworth, Bates stamped P2432.

20                       -  -  -

21               (Whereupon, a memorandum was

22                marked, for identification

23                purposes, as Deposition Exhibit

24                Number 189.)

25                       -  -  -
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2   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

3         Q.     Can you identify this document,

4   sir?

5         A.     It appears to be written

6   notification provided to Inmate Aref regarding

7   the denial of his transfer from a CMU.

8         Q.     Does it provide an adequate

9   explanation of the reasons for Mr. Aref's

10   continued CMU designation?

11         A.     No, it doesn't provide any reasons .

12         Q.     Okay.  I'm going to ask you to tur n

13   back to Exhibit 32 and to flip towards the

14   middle of the document -- I mean of the exhibit

15   to a March 18th, 2011 Kelly memo,

16   Bates stamped 3280.

17                Sir, how are you doing breakwise?

18   Do you need to take a break at any time?

19         A.     Soon, please, yes.

20         Q.     I should be done with Mr. Aref in

21   about five minutes.  We could get through him o r

22   I'm happy to stop and break now if -- if you

23   prefer to do that?

24         A.     Five minutes will be fine.

25
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2         Q.     Does this memo document the next

3   time that Yassin Aref's unit team considered

4   whether he should be transferred out of the CMU?

5         A.     I believe it does, yes.

6         Q.     Looking at the second page of the

7   memo, does this document the second time that

8   Yassin Aref's warden recommended his transfer

9   from the CMU?

10         A.     I believe it does, yes.

11         Q.     Okay.  Please flip to the next

12   page, which is a March 22nd, 2011 Les Smith

13   memo, Bates stamped BOP CMU 5010.

14                Is this a true and correct copy of

15   the CTU's March 22nd, 2011 redesignation memo

16   recommending Yassin Aref's transfer out of the

17   CMU?

18         A.     I believe it is, yes.

19         Q.     Why did the CTU recommend

20   Yassin Aref's transfer out of the CMU?

21         A.     The CTU believed the inmate no

22   longer warranted the controls and monitoring of

23   a CMU.

24         Q.     And what was that based on?

25         A.     Law enforcement review of his
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2   institution conduct and correctional judgment.

3         Q.     Please flip to the next page, which

4   is the CMU referral form for Yassin Aref dated

5   March 25th, 2011.

6                Is this a true and correct copy of

7   the North Central Regional Office's March 25th,

8   2011 review of Yassin Aref's CMU designation?

9         A.     I believe it is, yes.

10         Q.     Why did the North Central Regional

11   Director decide to release Yassin Aref from the

12   CMU?

13         A.     The Regional Director noted on the

14   form he concurred based upon the above-noted

15   comments on this form.

16         Q.     Did the North Central Regional

17   Director base his decision on the comments on

18   this referral form or other comments as well, o r

19   can you not tell?

20         A.     I can't tell.  All he documented

21   was what he wrote here.

22                MS. MEEROPOL:  Okay.  Why don't

23         we take a 10-minute break?

24                MR. CARTIER:  Yeah, let's do

25         that.
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2                       -  -  -

3                (Whereupon, a brief recess was take n

4                 from 10:16 a.m. to 10:29 a.m.)

5                       -  -  -

6                MS. MEEROPOL:  Okay.  We're back

7         on the record after a short break.

8                And I'd like to mark for

9         identification Exhibit 190, which is

10         Kifah Jayyousi's designation packet.

11                The first page of the document is

12         Bates stamped BOP CMU 76177.  And it

13         should be in the new exhibits folder.

14                       -  -  -

15               (Whereupon, Kifah Jayyousi's

16                designation packet was marked, for

17                identification purposes, as

18                Deposition Exhibit Number 190.)

19                       -  -  -

20   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

21         Q.     Sir, please take a moment to revie w

22   the document and tell me if this is a true and

23   correct copy of the designation packet created

24   by the CTU and used by the North Central

25   Regional Director to determine whether
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2   Kifah Jayyousi should be designated to the CMU.

3                And, again, I'll assert to you that

4   it was collated based on Government counsel's

5   statements that identify the contents of the

6   designation packet.

7                At the time that you review and

8   sign your deposition transcript, if you discover

9   that the packet is not complete, I'll ask you to

10   indicate that on your errata form.

11                (Whereupon, the witness reviews th e

12                 material provided.)

13                THE WITNESS:  It appears to be

14         complete.

15   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

16         Q.     Does the packet contain all of the

17   material the CTU relied upon to recommend

18   Kifah Jayyousi's CMU designation?

19         A.     I believe it does, yes.

20         Q.     Does it contain all the material

21   the CTU considered in deciding whether to

22   recommend Kifah Jayyousi for CMU designation?

23         A.     I believe it does, yes.

24         Q.     Does it include all the material

25   the North Central Regional Director relied upon
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2   to recommend Kifah Jayyousi for CMU designation?

3         A.     I believe it does, yes.

4         Q.     Please turn to Page 64 of the

5   designation packet.  It's a March 31st, 2008

6   Smith memo, Bates stamped BOP CMU 4620.

7         A.     Okay.

8         Q.     Is this a true and correct copy of

9   the CTU designation memo created for

10   Kifah Jayyousi?

11         A.     I believe it is, yes.

12         Q.     On the second page of -- the secon d

13   page of the memo, the third paragraph lists

14   organizations Kifah Jayyousi is associated with .

15                What is the basis for the CTU's

16   statement that Kifah Jayyousi is associated wit h

17   Al-Qaeda?

18         A.     It's my recollection this

19   information came from a presentence report.

20         Q.     Why did the CTU recommend

21   Mr. Jayyousi for CMU designation?

22         A.     Summarized in this memo, the CTU

23   believed the inmate warranted heightened

24   controls of his communication based on his

25   offense conduct.
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2         Q.     Was it based on anything else

3   besides offense conduct?

4         A.     The supporting information in the

5   PSR as well as his actual offenses.

6                MS. MEEROPOL:  Okay.  I'd like to

7         mark for identification Exhibit 191.

8         It's a Superseding Indictment,

9         Bates stamped BOP CMU 76344.

10                       -  -  -

11               (Whereupon, Superseding Indictment

12                was marked, for identification

13                purposes, as Deposition Exhibit

14                Number 191.)

15                       -  -  -

16                MR. CARTIER:  Was this a

17         previously marked exhibit?

18                MS. MEEROPOL:  No; it's a new

19         one.  It should be in the new folders.

20         I think KJ Indictment, maybe, is the

21         title.

22   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

23         Q.     Sir, was this indictment considere d

24   by the CTU in making its recommendation for

25   Mr. Jayyousi's CMU designation?
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2         A.     Okay.

3         Q.     Does this notice indicate the

4   reasons why Mr. Nalley approved Kifah Jayyousi

5   for designation to a CMU?

6         A.     No.

7         Q.     What does this notice indicate?

8         A.     This notice indicates to the inmate

9   the reasons that support his placement in the

10   CMU.

11         Q.     Mr. Nalley could have based his

12   approval of Mr. Jayyousi's designation on

13   completely different reasons, correct?

14         A.     Mr. Nalley could have based his

15   decision on what he felt was important in the

16   referral packet and the information available t o

17   him to make that decision.

18         Q.     Flip forward four pages in

19   Exhibit 31 to the December 23rd, 2009 Shoemaker

20   memo.  It's Bates stamped BOP CMU 4813.

21                Are you there, sir?

22         A.     Yes.

23         Q.     Does this memo document the first

24   time that Kifah Jayyousi's unit team considered

25   whether he should be transferred out of the CMU ?

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-6   Filed 04/23/14   Page 164 of 264



212-400-8845 - depo@transperfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 293

1                  DAVID C. SCHIAVONE

2   his transfer from the CMU?

3         A.     As far as I can tell, yes.

4         Q.     Why did the unit team recommend

5   Mr. Jayyousi's transfer from the CMU?

6         A.     The unit team indicated they have

7   noted no continuation of actions which

8   precipitated his placement in the CMU, among

9   their other comments in the entire memo.

10         Q.     And why -- is it fair to say that

11   the unit team's recommendation was based on

12   Mr. Jayyousi's positive incarceration conduct?

13         A.     They don't state that specifically .

14   They just make these particular comments in the

15   memo.

16         Q.     Why did the warden agree with the

17   unit team's recommendation?

18         A.     The warden stated he has acted

19   within the regulations set forth and has not

20   presented issues which cause concern.

21         Q.     Please turn to the following memo,

22   which is a March 22nd, 2011 Smith memo,

23   Bates stamped 5016.

24                Does this memo document the first

25   time the CTU considered Kifah Jayyousi for
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2   transfer from the CMU?

3         A.     I believe it does, yes.

4         Q.     Why did the CTU recommend against

5   Kifah Jayyousi's transfer?

6         A.     The CTU believed the inmate still

7   warranted the controls and monitoring of a CMU.

8         Q.     Why?

9         A.     Well, as summarized in this memo,

10   based on his incarceration conduct and his

11   offense conduct and the additional information

12   noted in the presentence report.

13         Q.     The third through fifth paragraphs

14   of the second page beginning with, While in

15   Terre Haute CMU -- do you see where I'm reading ?

16         A.     Yes.

17         Q.     The third through fifth paragraphs

18   describe a sermon delivered by Kifah Jayyousi a t

19   the CMU.

20                Was this sermon one of the reasons

21   that the CTU recommended against Mr. Jayyousi's

22   transfer?

23         A.     Yes, it's included in the memo as

24   one of the reasons the CTU considered.

25         Q.     Was it the most significant reason ?
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2   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

3         Q.     Did the CTU also provide the North

4   Central Regional Office with information

5   indicating that Mr. Jayyousi's incident report

6   was eventually expunged?

7                MR. CARTIER:  Same objections.

8                THE WITNESS:  According to this

9         packet, no, other than the memo from the

10         CTU, which indicated specifically that

11         the inmate had no sanctioned incident

12         reports.

13                So I guess my answer should be

14         yes, it did.  The CTU referral memo

15         indicates that the inmate had no

16         sanctioned incident reports.

17                Sorry.

18   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

19         Q.     Please turn to the first page of

20   the transfer packet, which is

21   Bates stamped 4618.

22                Was this document the first time

23   that the North Central Regional Director

24   considered Kifah Jayyousi's transfer from the

25   CMU?
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2         A.     I believe it is, yes.

3         Q.     Sorry about that.  Give me one

4   second.

5                (Pause.)

6   BY MS. MEEROPOL:

7         Q.     Please look at the Regional

8   Director's statement on the second page of the

9   CMU Review [sic] form.

10                Why did the Regional Director

11   decide to keep Kifah Jayyousi in the CMU?

12         A.     The Regional Director made a

13   comment which says, Based on the above-noted --

14   I guess it says comments.

15         Q.     What are the above-noted comments

16   he is referring to?

17         A.     They would be the comments entered

18   onto the form by the other reviewing staff in

19   the Regional Office.

20         Q.     Might it also refer back to the

21   CTU's memo?

22         A.     It might, yes.

23         Q.     I'm going to ask you to turn back

24   to Exhibit 31 and to the second-to-last page of

25   that exhibit, which is an April 14th, 2011 memo .
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2   It doesn't appear to be Bates stamped.

3         A.     The last page, you said?

4         Q.     The second-to-last page.

5         A.     Okay.  I have a memo --

6         Q.     Are you looking --

7         A.     Go ahead.

8         Q.     -- are you looking at the

9   April 14th, 2011 Kelly memo?

10         A.     Subject, Transfer Denial.

11         Q.     Yes.

12         A.     Yes.

13         Q.     Is this the notice provided to

14   Kifah Jayyousi of his transfer denial as

15   required by the Dodrill memo?

16         A.     It appears to be, yes.

17         Q.     Does this memo provide Mr. Jayyous i

18   with the reasons for his continued CMU

19   designation as required by the Dodrill memo?

20         A.     No, it does not.

21                MS. MEEROPOL:  Okay.  I'd like to

22         mark for identification Exhibit 193,

23         which is a Inmate Activity Record.  The

24         first page is

25         Bates stamped BOP CMU 60568.  It should
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2              So that was basically -- it was the

3  recommendation of the OIG audit.

4       Q.     And can you describe in general terms

5  what -- what work the CTU does?

6       A.     We monitor, analyze inmate

7  communications.  We have identified a certain

8  segment of the Bureau of Prisons inmate

9  population that we monitor.  I have 15

10  intelligence analysts; that's their

11  responsibility is to monitor the inmate

12  communications.  I have assigned caseloads.  I

13  have two staff in the Bureau of Prisons.

14              We manage the language translation

15  program for the entire agency.  I have two staff

16  members that run that program for me.

17              We provide -- create and provide

18  relevant training to internal and external

19  agencies, internal BOP, external agencies,

20  produce intelligence reports, intelligence

21  bulletins, what we call "intelligence summaries,"

22  which are submitted to the -- basically, the

23  Federal law enforcement community.

24              That's basically the mission in my

25  office.
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2  every single person who was -- who was it who

3  communicated to you the information you needed to

4  know about the CMUs so that you could do your job

5  as chief of CTU?

6       A.     I guess when they actually asked me

7  to, basically, we're going to have this unit

8  called communications management unit; we need to

9  determine -- I need nominees or inmates that

10  we're going to place there.  My office, myself

11  and David Schiavone, we actually came up with the

12  approximately 40 candidates.  We submitted it;

13  that was the end of my involvement on that.

14              Now, to answer your question about

15  the CMU, I would imagine it was heavily with

16  North Central Regional Office and the actual

17  facility, because, I mean, officers are going to

18  go in and get the unit back online, it's going to

19  take work from the local institution staff.

20  North Central Region is going to be funding the

21  money.

22              But I had no involvement in that.  I

23  mean, that's just me thinking how the process

24  would probably work.

25       Q.     I understand.
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2              But who was it that told you this is

3  what the CMU is; this is how it's going to work?

4       A.     I don't recall now.  That was 2006.

5  Like I said, I remember talking to Kim Williams

6  about -- she would call me.  It's like how can we

7  move the inmates from Point A to Point B without

8  having contact with other inmates?

9              But other than that, I don't -- I

10  only remember them saying during the meetings on

11  CTU.  I don't even remember recalling them

12  saying, all right, we're finished with the CTU

13  portion; we're going to move on to CMU.  I don't

14  even remember that.  I just think we have a good

15  concept on CTU; we'll see you later.

16              That's basically what it is per my

17  involvement.

18       Q.     Okay.  So did anyone provide you with

19  any information or training to help you figure

20  out who should be going to a CMU and who should

21  not?

22       A.     No.

23       Q.     Were you provided with any written

24  materials about the CMUs when they first opened?

25       A.     No.
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2  have computers, come to think of it, to be able

3  to conduct the research.

4              But it was probably a typed memo that

5  we submitted, these are the 40 candidates.  There

6  was no referral packages completed back then, not

7  that I recall.

8       Q.     Did you receive any instructions as

9  to how to identify those initial candidates?

10       A.     No, other than the initial wave that

11  we looked at were international terrorists,

12  because the OIG audit was conducted on

13  international terrorists.

14       Q.     Were you specifically told that that

15  is the category of prisoner you should be looking

16  at?

17       A.     I don't recall that, no.

18       Q.     And, presumably, there were more than

19  40 terrorists, convicted terrorists, in BOP

20  custody at the time.

21              Were you given any sort of criteria

22  or instructions about how to identify which of

23  that larger group of prisoners to nominate for

24  the CMU?

25       A.     No.
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2  this memo?

3       A.     No, I don't.

4       Q.     The CMU at Terre Haute had already

5  existed for over a year once this proposal was

6  generated; is that right?

7       A.     That's correct.

8       Q.     So was there a process in place

9  before this memo was issued to get CMU

10  nominations from around the country?

11       A.     Not that I'm aware of.

12       Q.     So the memo, the last paragraph of

13  the memo, states that BOP staff -- if BOP staff

14  become aware of -- of inmates who may meet the

15  CMU criteria, they should contact you for CMU

16  referral information and procedures.

17              So what kind of referral information

18  and procedures does that refer to?

19       A.     The referral information will -- like

20  I said, I needed the supporting documentation.

21  They would prepare a memo, like a cover memo.

22  They would have their supporting documentation.

23  Again, we required the inmate's presentence

24  investigation; the statement and reasons, known

25  as SOR; J&C was judgment and commitment file; we
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2  would require any investigations that were

3  generated off this -- you know, why they feel the

4  inmate qualifies -- a disciplinary history on the

5  inmate.

6              That's the supporting documentation

7  that we're looking for.

8       Q.     And so is it the role of the party

9  nominating someone to collect all of that and get

10  it to you, or do they get you a name, and then

11  you gather all that information?

12       A.     If the warden were to contact me, I

13  would say, Warden, this is what we need.  The

14  warden isn't going to do it.  He will have it

15  delegated to somebody.  We would eventually get

16  it.

17              The majority of the information comes

18  from what we call the "CMC," the case management

19  coordinator, that would be all the -- like the

20  PSI, the J&C, the SOR, the investigative reports;

21  disciplinary reports would come from SIS.  They

22  would compile the information.  Some institutions

23  had SIS write the cover memo and the warden

24  signed it.  Some institutions had, you know,

25  management write it.  It didn't matter to me.
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2       Q.     All right.

3              Let's talk a little bit more about

4  the criteria for CMU placement.

5              So we've talked today about how the

6  initial category -- and correct any -- anything I

7  say that -- that misrepresents anything we've

8  discussed -- we talked about how the initial

9  category was inmates with terrorist convictions

10  and that ultimately there were new categories

11  added on over the years.

12              Now, am I right in thinking that you

13  did have a role in sort of developing these

14  criteria?

15       A.     Yes.

16       Q.     And tell me a little bit more about

17  how you came up with these criteria.

18       A.     It was basically the type of the

19  inmate referrals that we were receiving.  When we

20  started receiving these sex offenders referrals,

21  inmates who have sex offender convictions, who

22  were attempting to reach out and contact their

23  victims -- once we identified several of those,

24  you know, in the referral process, we recommended

25  for placement in CTU or CMU; and it was approved.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-6   Filed 04/23/14   Page 212 of 264



CONFIDENTIAL - PURSUANT TO PROTECTIVE ORDER

212.400.8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 82

1          CONFIDENTIAL  —  LESLIE SCOTT SMITH

2              After two or three of them, it's like

3  maybe this is something that we need to consider

4  and have in one of our criteria for -- for who's

5  eligible.  And that's how that one evolved.

6              And like I said, first, it was sex

7  offenders, and then we had some inmates that were

8  writing out, threatening judges.

9              So we changed that from basically sex

10  offenders to any inmate that's writing out,

11  trying to contact a witness, a victim, et cetera.

12              That's basically how those -- I mean

13  it just -- once we started receiving the inmates

14  that were doing these specific instances, we

15  incorporated it.

16       Q.     Okay.  Do you remember when you added

17  the sex offender category?

18       A.     No.

19       Q.     How about then you said it expanded

20  to anyone trying to contact witnesses or victims.

21              Do you remember when that was added?

22       A.     No.

23       Q.     Okay.  Then were the -- what were

24  the -- what was the next category that was added?

25       A.     Well, I don't remember the sequence,
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2  sir.

3              I know another one is where the

4  inmates are circumventing the established

5  communication procedures.  That could be anything

6  from a possession of a cell phone within inside

7  the facility, where they're directing drug

8  activities.  It can be where they're actually

9  brazen enough to just use the institution phone

10  to conduct drug activities or illegal acts.

11              Just once we started -- like I

12  receive a referral, and it's like, yeah, this is

13  something that we need to look at.  How many

14  other inmates are out there?

15              Sovereign citizens, attempting to

16  gain information or glean information on staff

17  members.  So they can follow their leads.

18              Again, we evolved to that.

19       Q.     And as you are adding these

20  categories, was that being documented anywhere?

21       A.     Yes, we have a documentation that's

22  in the memo.

23       Q.     Right.

24              We'll get to that.  And I know,

25  ultimately, there is a memo that said these are
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2  the five categories.

3              But it sounds like over time those --

4  those categories were being added on one by one.

5              So was that -- as they were being

6  added, was it documented anywhere?

7       A.     From Ms. Conley's memo in 2008, where

8  she basically states in here -- The CMU was

9  established to house inmates who, due to their

10  current offense or conviction, offense conduct or

11  other verified information, requiring enhanced

12  [verbatim] monitoring of all communications with

13  persons in the community.

14              That's a pretty generic statement, I

15  realize that, but that was in '08.  That's the

16  first time that I can think of that something

17  like that was actually documented.

18              We've done what we call "briefing

19  bulletins" for the executive staff over

20  the years.  We've incorporated -- you know, as

21  we've expanded out, that's the only time I can

22  remember is when, like internally the briefing

23  bullets, did they go out to all facilities,

24  something in this type of a memorandum, not till,

25  I -- want to say -- Mr. Dodrill did the memo
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2  that -- there was a gap in that time frame.

3       Q.     Okay.  Sir, is it fair to say that

4  until March 2008 -- or, actually, let me strike

5  that.

6              Until that Dodrill memo that you

7  referred to, the only guidance people had

8  throughout the BOP in terms of who to nominate

9  was this memo here (indicating), this 2008 memo

10  from Ms. Conley?

11       A.     To my knowledge, yes.

12       Q.     Okay.  I want to direct your

13  attention to a document that was previously

14  marked as Exhibit 36.

15              MR. CARTIER:  Thank you.

16  BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

17       Q.     Here you go.

18              This is a document entitled,

19  communications management unit.

20              Do you recognize this document?

21       A.     Yes.

22       Q.     What is it?

23       A.     If I remember correctly, this is the

24  briefing bullets I was talking about earlier.  We

25  have in -- in Correctional Programs Division, or
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2  CPD, we maintain a booklet -- or let me retract

3  that.

4              The division maintains a booklet

5  which is called the "briefing booklet."  And it's

6  for the exec staff.  So let's say I get new

7  senior deputy assistant director and a new

8  assistant director in, each division underneath

9  his branch, his area he's responsible for, they

10  have briefing booklets.  And, to my knowledge,

11  that's what this is (indicating).

12              Well, if you look on the back, it

13  says "CMU talking points."  That's the briefing

14  booklet.

15       Q.     And do you know who authored this

16  document?

17       A.     It depends on what version they have.

18  Some we authored.  Others that are actually --

19  we've discovered in the booklet that somebody

20  actually altered it.  We wrote the initial one.

21  But there's been versions in that booklet that

22  I've discovered that didn't come from my office,

23  and I don't know who does it.

24       Q.     Who would have authority or ability

25  to alter this kind of a document?
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2  submitted.

3       Q.     And who would you send those

4  corrections to?

5       A.     My boss, Mr. Eternick.

6       Q.     Okay.  And do you remember following

7  up to make sure that the corrections had been

8  made?

9       A.     No.

10       Q.     Would it be erroneous for individuals

11  involved in the designation process to use these

12  criteria or use this document (indicating) in

13  reaching their decision or recommendation about

14  whether someone belongs in a CMU?

15       A.     When you say "designation process" --

16       Q.     Well, anyone who is reviewing --

17  who's involved in -- in reviewing whether someone

18  should be sent to the CMU, if they were using

19  this document to make this decision, would that

20  be erroneous?

21       A.     No, because this was a -- these were

22  bullets for the exec staff.  At that time, they

23  weren't involved in the -- even to this day,

24  unless there's a -- a -- a disagreement.  But

25  even to this day, the exec staff aren't CPD,
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2  Correctional Programs Division, and that's what

3  this briefing bullet is for is the Correctional

4  Programs Division.

5              This is not for the regional director

6  nor North Central.  It's not even shared with

7  OGC, who is doing the review process.  So I don't

8  see it as a concern.

9       Q.     Okay.

10       A.     Now, there may be some wordsmithing,

11  but the gist of this is basically the same.

12       Q.     Would it surprise you to learn that

13  staff involved in the designation process used

14  this document to make their decisions about

15  designations to the CMU?

16       A.     My -- and my question would be what

17  staff.

18       Q.     Staff at the North Central Regional

19  Office.

20       A.     Then I wasn't aware of that.

21       Q.     Does it surprise you to learn that?

22       A.     I'm not going to say "surprised."  I

23  just wasn't aware of it.  I'm not -- I'm not

24  involved in the North Central.  They have their

25  own review process, their own separate world from
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2       A.     There may be.  But I'm not -- off the

3  top of my head, I can't think of any right now.

4       Q.     So by my read, the criteria in here

5  are fairly broad.

6              So let's take a look at the first

7  one, 2(a).  This includes any inmate whose

8  conviction or offense conduct included

9  association, communication or involvement related

10  to international or domestic terrorism.

11              So, presumably, that involves a fair

12  number of BOP inmates.

13              So once an inmate falls into this

14  category and is identified as such, how do you

15  decide whether or not they should go to the

16  CMU -- that you're going to refer them to the

17  CMU?

18       A.     Make the referral?

19       Q.     Yeah.

20       A.     We look -- we look at the incident

21  offense; in other words, what their actual crime

22  was -- the PSI provides quite a bit of

23  information, background on the inmate, what his

24  involvement was in the crime.  That's -- after

25  reviewing that, we get intelligence from other
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2  law enforcement agencies.

3              Again, we review all the supporting

4  documentation that I've explained before,

5  everything that's required for a referral.

6              We go through it all, and then we

7  make a determination whether he actually needs to

8  be placed in a CMU or he can program in a regular

9  population.

10       Q.     Certain terms of the winnowing down

11  that you're describing.

12              Are there any further written

13  criteria to assist you in that process?

14       A.     I can't think of anything off the top

15  of my head.

16       Q.     So I want you to compare the criteria

17  that appear in this document to the ones -- and

18  I'm referring to Exhibit 115 -- and compare them

19  to the ones that appear in Exhibit 36.

20       A.     Okay.

21       Q.     Do you think there's any meaningful

22  difference between these criteria?

23       A.     For the first one, 2(a), that you

24  just spoke of, the first bullet on 36, which is

25  inmates who have been convicted of, or associated
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2  a local investigation, that means the warden has

3  already approved it.  Who am I to argue with the

4  warden?

5       Q.     Do you ever consider press releases

6  from either the Department of Justice or the

7  United States Attorneys' office?

8       A.     We use them, yes.  They're not always

9  correct, but we do use them.

10       Q.     If a press release is about an

11  indictment, do you treat that differently than a

12  press release that's about a conviction?

13       A.     Treat it the same.  I hate to say

14  this, but press releases from Government offices

15  ranks just above media.  There's a lot of

16  inconsistencies in there.  A lot of

17  grandstanding.

18       Q.     That's what press releases are all

19  about.

20       A.     That's true.

21       Q.     If information that you cite in a

22  referral memo is controverted, do you indicate

23  that that's the case in these memos?

24              THE WITNESS:  Could you repeat

25       that, ma'am?
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2                        -  -  -

3              (Whereupon, the court reporter read

4               back the pertinent part of the

5               record.)

6                        -  -  -

7              THE WITNESS:  What do you mean by

8       "controvert," exactly?

9  BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

10       Q.     Disputed.

11       A.     Understood, disputed.

12              Yes, if there was something disputed,

13  we would address that.

14       Q.     And how would you address it?

15       A.     We would list -- we would list it --

16  the statement and we would list how it was

17  disputed.  That way the approving officials above

18  me can make that decision, not me.

19       Q.     Do the referral packets always

20  include a copy of the inmate's judgment and

21  conviction?

22       A.     I wouldn't say all the time, no.

23       Q.     Is it only if the designation or the

24  referral -- I apologize, is based on the

25  conviction?
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2  offense is animal terrorism, the AETA Terrorism

3  Act, we put -- that would qualify.

4              Now, he could have another charge or

5  another, say -- let's say he was investigated for

6  possession of a cell phone.  We may not list

7  that, because the primary is he's a terrorist.

8       Q.     So is it fair to say that the -- that

9  the notice of transfer isn't actually intended to

10  give the inmate notice of all the facts that led

11  to the designation, just so long as it refers to

12  one of the categories?

13              MR. CARTIER:  I'll object to lack

14       of foundation with respect to the ultimate

15       reasons for placement.

16              But you -- you can answer.

17              THE WITNESS:  To me, sir, of those

18       facts, I'm notifying the inmate why he's

19       being placed in the unit.  And it has to

20       meet one of these categories.  I may not

21       get specifics.  If the inmate was

22       convicted of terrorism activities, he

23       knows it.  I don't have to remind him.

24              So I -- that's what's in the block.

25
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2       Q.     I think I'm using the wrong word, and

3  maybe that's leading to some confusion.

4              My understanding is that various

5  people at the North Central Regional Office

6  reviewed the referral?

7       A.     Now I understand what you're talking

8  about.

9       Q.     Okay.  I apologize.

10              So -- so what I'm asking is what's

11  your understanding of the role in that process.

12       A.     Prior to the discovery in this case,

13  I had no idea they were doing it.  That form they

14  have, I didn't realize there was such a form

15  until I reviewed it.  Because they don't share.

16              It's obvious to me that the regional

17  director has identified certain staff -- they're

18  called administrators, regional administrators --

19  certain staff to go through and review these

20  documents, and they're to provide input so the

21  regional director can make a more informed

22  decision.

23       Q.     So previous to seeing the discovery

24  in this case, were you under the impression that

25  your referral packet went straight to the
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2              THE WITNESS:  I have -- I

3       understand it.

4  BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

5       Q.     You understand it?

6       A.     Yeah.

7       Q.     Okay.  Let's talk about someone who

8  is sent to the CMU based on facility conduct,

9  something like recruitment and radicalization.

10              My understanding is that what the

11  unit team would be looking for in that scenario

12  is whether that behavior stopped at the CMU.

13              Is that also your understanding?

14       A.     Yes.

15       Q.     How long do you think someone would

16  have to refrain from that kind of questionable

17  conduct before they would be appropriate for

18  transfer out?

19       A.     Sound correctional judgment, sir.  To

20  me, there's never been a time frame set to my

21  knowledge.  I can't answer when they would

22  recommend.

23       Q.     What are some of the things that

24  you're looking for when you consider a case like

25  that?
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2              MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:  So I would like

3       to mark for identification a document

4       entitled, Review for Continued CMU

5       Designation as Exhibit 168.

6                        -  -  -

7                  (Whereupon, Review for

8                   Continued CMU Designation was

9                   marked, for identification

10                   purposes, as Smith Deposition

11                   Exhibit Number 168.)

12                        -  -  -

13  BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

14       Q.     Once you've had a chance to take a

15  look at it, just let me know.

16       A.     Yes, sir.

17              (Whereupon, the witness reviews the

18               material provided.)

19              THE WITNESS:  Okay, sir.

20  BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

21       Q.     Is this the change you were talking

22  about?

23       A.     Yes, sir.

24       Q.     So I know you mentioned that the new

25  regional director asked for this.
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2              Do you know why?

3       A.     No, I don't, because this was

4  directed to the wardens.  There's two wardens,

5  one at Terre Haute, one at Marion.  I'm just not

6  privy to the information.

7       Q.     Um-hum.

8              Does this come to you, though?

9       A.     Yes, this is what they complete.

10  It's to their -- the old-fashioned memo we used

11  to see.  This is what we receive now.

12       Q.     Okay.  So do you still get that kind

13  of old-fashioned memo, or you just get --

14       A.     Just this, to my knowledge --

15       Q.     Just this?

16       A.     -- I haven't seen those old memos

17  anymore.

18       Q.     I see.

19              And do you know when this is filled

20  out?

21       A.     When they do their recommendation for

22  removal.

23       Q.     And the ones that you've seen, who

24  has been filling them out?

25       A.     Case manager.
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2       Q.     Anyone else?

3       A.     The only ones I've seen are the case

4  manager.

5       Q.     Okay.

6       A.     The case manager initiates it; the

7  unit manager approves it; then it goes up here to

8  the CEO, the Chief, the warden; they sign it; and

9  then it goes to North Central division.

10              We forward it on once we receive

11  it -- we do our recommendations, and then it goes

12  to the warden -- or to the regional director.

13       Q.     What's the purpose of this new form?

14       A.     I can't answer that, sir.

15       Q.     Have you ever talked to the regional

16  director -- the new regional director, Mr. Laird,

17  you said, about this form?

18       A.     No.

19       Q.     Have you spoken to anyone at either

20  CMU about this form?

21       A.     Not CMU.  I might have talked to my

22  boss about it, Randy Eternick.

23       Q.     What did you talk about with

24  Mr. Eternick?

25       A.     The only thing I can figure is, hey,
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2  there's a new form.  This is at the direction of

3  Mr. Laird.  We didn't have no input in design,

4  any of that.

5       Q.     At any point, has Mr. Eternick told

6  you what the purpose of this new form is?

7       A.     Not that I recall.  I don't know if

8  he knows.

9       Q.     Okay.  Let's go through the form.

10              So Box Number 1 says ARSD CMU.

11       A.     Um-hum.

12       Q.     Do you know what that means?

13       A.     Yes.

14       Q.     Can you tell me?

15       A.     Arrival date -- the ARS is the

16  arrival.  The D stands for date.  So basically,

17  his arrival date at CMU.

18       Q.     The second bottom says, Anticipated

19  Release Date/Release Method.

20              Is that referring to anticipation

21  release date from BOP custody?

22       A.     I would say yes.

23       Q.     You don't seem sure, though.

24       A.     The only reason I say yes is because

25  it has release method.  That could be -- what's

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-6   Filed 04/23/14   Page 230 of 264



CONFIDENTIAL - PURSUANT TO PROTECTIVE ORDER

212.400.8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 212

1          CONFIDENTIAL  —  LESLIE SCOTT SMITH

2  the anticipated release date may be

3  February 15th, 2016.  Release method may be good

4  conduct.  But that's estimated.  That's

5  anticipating the inmate doesn't get any

6  disciplinary and have a good conduct removed, or

7  it could be two-thirds sentence.

8              It depends on what law or series of

9  laws he was sentenced under.  It could be parole.

10              So that's -- that's what tells me

11  it's probably his actual release from prison

12  versus his release from the CMU, because it has

13  release method.

14       Q.     Right.

15              So because of the use of the words

16  "release method," that suggests to you this

17  wouldn't be referring to the anticipated release

18  from the CMU?

19       A.     Correct.

20       Q.     Okay.

21              Okay.  I think I understand Box

22  Number 3, Next Review Date.  Presumably, that's

23  the next program preview.

24              Is that also your understanding?

25       A.     Yes, sir.
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2       Q.     Okay.  How about Number 4, Original

3  Reason for CMU Designation?

4              In the forms you've seen so far --

5  and you don't have to go into any details, but do

6  they just summarize what was on the original

7  notice for -- of transfer?

8       A.     Basically, yes.

9       Q.     And then, in Box Number 5, how has

10  the unit team been using that box in the forms

11  you've seen?

12       A.     Basically off the original referral

13  memo from what I've seen.

14       Q.     Have you seen examples where more

15  than one of those is checked?

16       A.     Yes.

17       Q.     And then Box Number 6 says,

18  Disciplinary History related to misuse/abuse of

19  approved communication methods.

20              Can you explain what your

21  understanding of that box is for?

22       A.     Again, they would document any time

23  an inmate received disciplinary action based on

24  abuse or misuse of established communication

25  procedures.  They would actually list -- how much
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2  they would list in there, I don't know.  It might

3  be something simple as a date it occurred, what

4  he was charged with, gang activity using coded

5  communications, whatever.

6              Obviously, they're restricting --

7  let's say I had a assault on staff.  That

8  wouldn't be related to abuse/misuse of

9  communication methods, so they're restricting it

10  based on communications only.

11       Q.     Does Box Number 6 only include

12  disciplinary incidents where there has been a

13  finding of misconduct?

14       A.     In other words, it's been sustained?

15       Q.     Correct.

16       A.     I would say yes.

17       Q.     Have you ever seen one of these forms

18  filled out that refers to an incident where it

19  was not sustained?

20       A.     Not to my knowledge.

21              This is a relatively new form, too.

22       Q.     When did they start using this form?

23       A.     That's a good question.

24              I'd say the last 12 months.

25       Q.     Okay.  So calendar year 2013?  Is
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2  that fair?

3       A.     Yes, that's fair.

4       Q.     Was it first half of the year or

5  second half of the year?

6       A.     I'm going to say starting the summer

7  of last year.  Just guessing.

8       Q.     December of last year?

9       A.     No; summer.

10       Q.     Summer.

11              Okay.  Thank you.

12              How about Box Number 7?  It says

13  Inmate Comments/Statement.

14              How has that been filled out in the

15  forms you've seen?

16       A.     When they have their program

17  review -- their program review with the inmate,

18  he has an opportunity to present -- this is

19  the -- the -- the space where he would be able to

20  put his statement.

21       Q.     Is it always filled out?

22       A.     I don't know that, sir.

23       Q.     No, but the ones you've seen.

24       A.     The ones I've seen, no, not always.

25       Q.     About what percentage of the time
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2  would you say it's filled out?

3       A.     Sir, it's so new, I couldn't even

4  tell you.  I can't answer that.  I don't know.

5       Q.     In those instances where it hasn't

6  been filled out, does it say why?

7       A.     No, not to my knowledge.

8       Q.     So is it fair to say that you've

9  received copies of this form where Box Number 7

10  is completely blank?

11       A.     I can't answer that, sir, because

12  when I review it, I'm not so much looking at the

13  inmate's comments.  I'm more looking at what the

14  warden's comments are.

15              So I really can't -- I don't give

16  this form that thorough of a review.  I'm looking

17  for the warden's comments.  I already know what

18  the disciplinary history is going to be.  So I'm

19  reading my recommendation from CTU to the RD.

20              This is supposed to be separate.  I

21  just glance at it out of curiosity to see what

22  the warden is saying.  Because this is not

23  supposed to influence my decision (indicating).

24       Q.     I see.

25              Where -- where does the warden --
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2       Q.     Do you recall any situation in which

3  someone was transferred from one CMU to the other

4  and then transferred from that second CMU to

5  general population in less than 18 months?

6       A.     I would say yes, probably, on

7  18 months --

8       Q.     Okay.  Can you --

9       A.     -- but I don't recall who it would be

10  without reviewing it.  But I would say that's

11  more feasible than four months.

12       Q.     Okay.  Do you have any

13  recollection -- specific recollection of that

14  happening?

15       A.     I'd have to review records.

16       Q.     Thank you.

17              Your memo -- and now, I'm referring

18  to a March -- the March 22nd, 2011 memo -- it

19  refers to an incident where Mr. Jayyousi was the

20  rotational Muslim prayer leader at the

21  Terre Haute CMU.

22       A.     Which page are you on?

23       Q.     I'm on the second page.  It's

24  marked 4514 [sic].

25       A.     Okay.
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2       Q.     It's the third paragraph -- the third

3  new paragraph, and you say, While in THA CMU,

4  Jayyousi was the rotational Muslim prayer leader.

5  And then there's three paragraphs about that.

6              Do you remember learning about that

7  incident?

8       A.     Yes.

9       Q.     And what materials did you review

10  prior to writing this memo?

11       A.     I didn't write this memo.

12       Q.     Prior to reviewing this memo, then?

13       A.     The only thing I remember reviewing

14  was the translation from Officer -- or excuse

15  me -- from Intelligence Analyst Bair of the

16  actual transcription of the audio and the video.

17  I had never saw the video.

18       Q.     Okay.  If you flip forward a couple

19  of pages, you'll see a CTU memo dated April 12th,

20  2011 from John Bair.

21              Is that the memo you were talking

22  about?

23       A.     Yes, sir.

24       Q.     So just to be clear, you examined

25  this memo in considering this transfer request?
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2       A.     Yes -- well, no.  I considered the

3  speech.  I can't remember if it was this

4  specific -- I recall specifically reviewing this

5  memo, but I can't recall if what -- how I

6  originally gained knowledge was off this memo.

7              I'm quite confident it wasn't off

8  this memo, because the incident occurred -- I'm

9  trying to remember when it actually occurred.

10       Q.     2008.

11       A.     Yeah, 2008, August 15th.  So I would

12  have become knowledged probably within hours

13  regardless of where I may have been, as long as

14  my cell phone was not turned off.

15              So, yeah, this was -- this was

16  significant.

17       Q.     Sure.

18              My question is, did you review this

19  when you were considering the transfer request?

20       A.     I reviewed the transcript.  I don't

21  know if it was specifically this memo

22  (indicating).

23       Q.     Okay.  But -- but you somehow looked

24  at a transcription.

25              It may have been this?
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2               material provided.)

3              THE WITNESS:  Can you repeat your

4       question?

5  BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

6       Q.     Is it fair to say that this -- part

7  of the function of this document was to document

8  people who were being considered for placement at

9  the second CMU?

10       A.     I would say yes, sir.

11       Q.     Okay.  Thank you.

12              Okay.  I want to turn your attention

13  to a document that was previously marked as

14  Exhibit 123.

15       A.     No wonder I couldn't find it.

16       Q.     Here you go.

17       A.     Thank you.

18       Q.     Okay.  So let's start with the

19  November 15th, 2010 CTU memo that starts this

20  document.  It's -- it's dated 674 -- not dated, I

21  apologize -- it's Bates stamped 67400.

22              And in that memo, you recommend this

23  inmate's transfer to the CMU.

24              You describe his offense conduct.

25  And if you turn to Page 2, you'll see that in the
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2  first full paragraph, you state that he has a

3  history of subscribing to a radicalized Islamic

4  philosophy and has maintained a consistent

5  interest in radical Islam.  Efforts need to be

6  made to effectively manage -- something -- it's

7  redacted.  I think it's his name -- and his

8  radicalized points of view, to preclude his views

9  from recruiting or radicalizing other inmates.

10              And you then indicate in the third

11  paragraph -- third full paragraph that Based on

12  his offense conduct and beliefs, it's recommended

13  that he be sent to a CMU.

14              So just to extrapolate from that, is

15  it fair to say that this inmate's radicalized

16  religious beliefs and interests were at least one

17  of the reasons you recommended him for CMU

18  designation?

19       A.     Allow me to read it a little bit

20  more, please.

21       Q.     Absolutely.  Take your time.

22              (Whereupon, the witness reviews the

23               material provided.)

24              THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Your question,

25       sir?
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2  BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

3       Q.     Is it fair to say that this inmate's

4  radicalized religious beliefs and interests were

5  one of the reasons you recommended his transfer

6  to the CMU?

7       A.     I believe his offense conduct were

8  probably his primary.  But based on his radical

9  beliefs, it would have been secondary, yes.

10       Q.     Thank you.

11              Now, I'd like you to turn to the

12  notice to inmate of transfer dated January 3rd,

13  2011.  This is for the same inmate.

14              Did you draft this notice?

15       A.     Mr. Schiavone.

16       Q.     Okay.  Did you review it, though?

17       A.     I'm assuming I did.  Since I signed

18  it, I would say yes.

19       Q.     Can you read the box that lists the

20  reasons for his transfer?

21       A.     Your current offenses of

22  conviction --

23       Q.     You don't have to read it out loud.

24  I mean to yourself.

25       A.     I'm sorry.  I apologize.
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2       Q.     Don't worry about it.

3              (Whereupon, the witness reviews the

4               material provided.)

5              THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.

6  BY MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:

7       Q.     Why wasn't the information about his

8  radicalized Islamic philosophy or continued

9  interest in radical Islam included on this notice

10  of transfer?

11       A.     To me, it had stuck to the offense

12  conduct.  And, like I said, with limited space,

13  there's only so much we can put in there.

14              But that, to me, would have been the

15  attempted use of mass destruction.  It doesn't

16  get much bigger than that one.  So that's what we

17  went with.

18       Q.     Do you believe that, ideally, this

19  notice would include all the reasons that were

20  considered?

21       A.     To me, it's sufficient.  I don't have

22  to specifically list -- I don't understand why I

23  would have to specifically list out each one.

24              We're given the offense conduct.  To

25  me, that's sufficient.  Because it basically
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2  states, based on the offense conduct, it is

3  recommended you be designated to the CMU.  It

4  also states beliefs which could threaten.  I

5  understand that.

6              But the primary weapon -- WMD, that's

7  the primary charge.

8       Q.     Is there any reason why this inmate

9  should not be told that these were factors

10  considered?

11       A.     No.

12       Q.     Did this inmate have many other way

13  to learn about all of the reasons he was

14  considered for CMU placement?

15       A.     I guess he could have asked

16  Mr. Shepherd when he presented the form.

17       Q.     To the extent that his radicalized

18  philosophy and continued interest in radical

19  Islam were a factor you considered, how could

20  this inmate mitigate the behavior, that behavior

21  that you were concerned about, if he wasn't told

22  that that behavior was problematic as far as the

23  BOP was concerned?

24       A.     Through time, observations,

25  communication monitoring, see how he interacts
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2       Q.     So is it your testimony that even

3  though 1,774 cell phones -- well, actually, let

4  me step back.

5              My understanding is that it isn't

6  that 1,774 cell phones were found, period; it's

7  that 1,774 cell phones were seized from BOP

8  prisoners actually found and attached to a

9  specific prisoner.

10              Does that surprise you?

11       A.     That high of a number, yes.

12       Q.     It does.

13              Okay.  Well, I'm basing that

14  information on a BOP report --

15       A.     Okay.

16       Q.     -- so if this was one of 1,774

17  incidents where inmates were -- cell phones were

18  seized from BOP inmates in 2008, how come this

19  guy ends up in the CMU?

20       A.     Because he was obviously referred to

21  us by the institution.  If they don't refer them

22  to me -- we don't track cell phones.

23       Q.     Do you remember any other inmates who

24  were found with cell phones being referred for

25  CMU placement?
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2       A.     No.

3       Q.     Ever?

4       A.     Oh, I thought you meant with this

5  group in 2008.

6       Q.     No, no.  I -- well, that was my

7  question, in 2008.

8       A.     Okay.  No, I don't recall anybody

9  else in 2008.

10       Q.     Okay.  Uh-huh.

11              So this was the one case of someone

12  being found with a cell phone in 2008 that you

13  can recall?

14       A.     That I recall.

15       Q.     Okay.  Subsequent to that, have other

16  inmates who were found with cell phones been

17  referred to the CMU?

18       A.     Yes.

19       Q.     And how many ended up in the CMU?

20       A.     Two of them have, yes.

21       Q.     How many referrals would you say that

22  you've had based on possession of a cell phone?

23       A.     That I don't know off the top of my

24  head.

25              But I know of two other inmates that
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2  I have in the unit that were referred to and

3  approved for the unit that -- cell phone --

4  illegal cell phone.  And both of them were -- the

5  cell phone use were not BOP custody.  They were

6  ones caught in a county jail, and one was caught

7  in state prison.  But they were indicted

8  Federally because of interstate commerce.

9       Q.     And in those couple of cases that

10  you're referring to, were there other reasons for

11  CMU placement or was possession of a cell phone

12  the only reason?

13       A.     It was -- possession of a cell phone

14  is circumventing communication procedures, which

15  is one of our standards that qualify.

16              MR. AGATHOCLEOUS:  Okay.  I'd like

17       to mark as Exhibit 174 the following

18       packet -- referral packet to the CMU.

19              For clarity, it begins on

20       BOP CMU 76121.

21                        -  -  -

22                  (Whereupon, Packet of referral

23                   materials was marked, for

24                   identification purposes, as

25                   Smith Deposition Exhibit
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 8 DEPOSITION OF KIFAH WAEL JAYYOUSI      

 9 The deposition of KIFAH WAEL JAYYOUSI, a witness 
called at the instance of Defendant taken on November 

10 15, 2013, at 8:00 a.m., at the United States 
Penitentiary, Route 5, Marion, Illinois, before 

11 Valeri Bleyer, Notary Public and Certified Shorthand 
Reporter, CSR No. 084-002678, for the State of 

12 Illinois, pursuant to notice. 
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 1 A. My immediate family.

 2 Q. Immediate family?

 3 A. Yes.

 4 Q. Okay.  And my understanding is you have a

 5 fairly large immediate family.  You have a wife, two

 6 twin sons --

 7 A. Yes.

 8 Q. -- and three daughters?

 9 A. That's correct.

10 Q. Okay.  Well, I would like to ask you to

11 kind of provide an overview and timeline of the

12 various facilities you've been housed in since your

13 arrest.  Before I do that, just so the record is

14 clear, where are you currently incarcerated?

15 A. At USP Marion in Marion, Illinois.  Unit N.

16 Q. And that is the -- unit N is in the part of

17 the general population?

18 A. Yes, sir, it is.

19 Q. While you've been in general population or

20 GP at USP Marion have you been housed in any units in

21 addition to unit N?

22 A. When I arrived here I was housed at the

23 communication management unit or they call it unit I.

24 I unit.

25 Q. Okay.  So I'll limit my questions just to

SOUTHERN REPORTING (800) 852-2387
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 1 boys.

 2 Q. Was your brother ever able to visit?

 3 A. I'm trying to think.  He might have come

 4 one time.  I believe he did come one time.

 5 Q. And I believe your parents --

 6 A. My parents would never want to come.  My

 7 mother told me in particular that she did not want to

 8 come in that situation and see me behind a glass

 9 window.  My -- both my parents are elderly and they

10 were very emotional to learn that it's behind the

11 glass.  You know, they wouldn't be able to touch me,

12 in other words.

13 Q. I understand.  Has your father visited you

14 since you've been placed in general population here

15 in Marion?

16 A. No.  His health has deteriorated.  And he

17 said, when you get to Milan, I'm going to go out

18 there no matter what.  He is almost blind.  And he

19 needs someone to be next to him.  He can hardly walk.

20 So he said when you get to Milan he'll be able to

21 come, because that's only like 40 minutes away from

22 home.  

23 Q. And I apologize for asking this again.  I

24 want to make sure I understand.  It's true for both

25 Terre Haute and the Marion CMU, did you always use

SOUTHERN REPORTING (800) 852-2387
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THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -x

YASSIN MUHIDDIN AREF, et al.,            :

            Plaintiffs,                  :

                                         :
            -against-
                                         :
ERIC HOLDER, et al.,

                                         :
            Defendants.
                                         :
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -x

          ** C O N F I D E N T I A L **

        DEPOSITION of DANIEL MC GOWAN, taken by

The Department of Justice, at the offices of

Weil Gotshal & Manges, on Friday, November 8, 2013,

commencing at 9:10 a.m., before Elizabeth Santamaria,

a Certified Shorthand (Stenotype) Reporter and

Notary Public within and for the State of New York.
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1                  McGowan - Protected

2         Q     Which one?

3         A     Patrick Reinsborough.

4         Q     So other than the people you have

5 already listed, did anyone else visit you that

6 you considered a colleague?

7         A     No.

8         Q     Just to kind of get a sense of

9 what the visits were like at Sandstone, maybe we

10 can talk about your visits with your wife.

11               I believe I read, I think it was a

12 post from you, about what it was like to have a

13 visit.  My understanding, it was a contact

14 visit.

15         A     Yes.

16         Q     Am I also correct you felt that

17 there were still limitations on your ability to

18 have meaningful contact with your wife?

19         A     I don't know what you mean by

20 that.

21         Q     Were the visits limited in any way

22 that frustrated you?

23         A     They were limited by the fact that

24 I was incarcerated and that the visit had an

25 end.
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  1 IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

  2
- - -

  3
YASSIN MUHIDDIN AREF, et al.,   )

  4                                 )
        Plaintiffs,             )

  5                                 ) CIVIL ACTION NO.
      vs.                       ) 10-0539 (BJR)

  6                                 )
ERIC HOLDER, et al.,            )

  7                                 )
        Defendants.             )

  8
- - -

  9
Deposition of YASSIN MUHIDDIN AREF

 10
Friday, November 22, 2013

 11
- - -

 12
The deposition of YASSIN MUHIDDIN AREF, 

 13 called as a witness by the Defendants, pursuant to 
Notice and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

 14 pertaining to the taking of depositions, taken before 
me, the undersigned, Deborah L. Endler, a Notary 

 15 Public in and for the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, at 
the Prison SCI Loretto, 772 Saint Joseph Street, 

 16 Loretto, Pennsylvania, 15940, commencing at 8:30 
o'clock a.m., the day and date above set forth.

 17
- - -

 18
COMPUTER-AIDED TRANSCRIPTION BY

 19 MORSE, GANTVERG & HODGE, INC.
PITTSBURGH, PENNSYLVANIA

 20 412-281-0189

 21 - - -

 22

 23

 24

 25

CONFIDENTIAL

1
Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-6   Filed 04/23/14   Page 255 of 264



  1 A Until March 2009.

  2 Q So almost two years?

  3 A I think it was two years, two months 

  4 something, I believe.

  5 Q And where did you go next?

  6 A Marion, Illinois.

  7 Q And I know you were in a CMU at Marion, 

  8 also?

  9 A Yes.

 10 Q And did you go directly from Terra Haute to 

 11 Marion CMU?

 12 A From CMU to CMU, yes.

 13 Q So that was March 2009?

 14 A I believe so.

 15 Q And how long were you in the CMU at Marion 

 16 for?

 17 A Until May 2011.

 18 Q So that was 26 months?

 19 A About.

 20 Q And then where did you go next?

 21 A I came out the same prison but to the 

 22 general population.

 23 Q Okay.  So you were in the Marion general 

 24 population?

 25 A Yes.
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  1 Q And that was May 2011?

  2 A Yes.

  3 Q How long were you in the Marion general 

  4 population?

  5 A Until the end of November.

  6 Q So in November where did you go?

  7 A Allenwood.

  8 Q Was that by airplane?

  9 A Yes, yes.

 10 Q And how long were you at Allenwood?

 11 A One year.

 12 Q So November 2012?

 13 A Yes.

 14 Q And was that in the general population?

 15 A Yes.

 16 Q Where did you go after Allenwood?

 17 A Canaan.

 18 Q Where is Canaan?

 19 A I think here in Pennsylvania somewhere, 

 20 like holding center.

 21 Q How long were you there?

 22 A 52 days.

 23 Q And were you in the general population?

 24 A For those they are in the transfer only, 

 25 they have the special unit for the people that are in 
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  1 Q Did you have visitors when you were at the 

  2 Terre Haute CMU?

  3 A Yes.

  4 Q Who came to visit you?

  5 A I'm not sure to call that a visit because 

  6 indeed it's not a visit.  Which is a visit, it's to 

  7 somebody comfort you or comfort your family or 

  8 children or sit together, to have some good time or to 

  9 talk.  That's not the case in the CMU.

 10 They came, they put you in the small room, 

 11 three, four children, all crying.  They want to hug 

 12 you and the children, they jump to the phone, they 

 13 want to speak to you and they have to speak one at a 

 14 time.  

 15 I'm not sure that's a visit.  It's just

 16 more torture than to be privileged to see your family 

 17 like that.  

 18 But the first time they came my two sons.  

 19 Another they came they supposed to have four hour.  

 20 After one hour, they say no.  They cancel the visit 

 21 and they kick them out.  

 22 And I just remember I was begging them if 

 23 they can't just leave my children.  They said legal we 

 24 want them to wait outside or anything, but let me just 

 25 talk to my children.  And they were crying.  
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  1 They said no, they said no, visit is over.  

  2 And imagine three days they drive and they stayed 

  3 there night and they almost three days to drive back 

  4 and one hour and they cut it off.  

  5 So it was not kind of privilege.  It was 

  6 torture.  I just, sometimes you say I just don't need 

  7 you to go through.  I just don't need to see them in 

  8 this case.

  9 Q Did your sons ever come see you again when 

 10 you were at the Terre Haute CMU?

 11 A Yes, I believe they came back.

 12 Q Do you remember how many times they came 

 13 back?

 14 A I'm not sure exactly how many time, but 

 15 they came back, whole family came.  My wife, children.

 16 Q How long did that visit last?

 17 A Maybe whole four hour was that the visit at 

 18 that time, I think.  Maybe two days for four hours or 

 19 one day eight hours.  I think that's what it was, from 

 20 beginning.  So maybe twice four hours.

 21 Q Did your daughters visit you or come see 

 22 you at the Terre Haute CMU any time other than the one 

 23 time when your whole family came?

 24 A I'm going to say just one time they came.  

 25 But they came, yes.
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  1 Q How many times did the whole family come 

  2 see you when you were at the Terre Haute CMU?

  3 A I don't know.

  4 Q Was it more than once?

  5 A Of course.  I just told you about two of 

  6 them just now.

  7 Q I'm talking about the entire family, your 

  8 wife and all your children.  I know they came on one 

  9 occasion.  Did they come more than just once?

 10 A Let me just say this.  I just remember one 

 11 time.  I ask my wife to come and bring the children.  

 12 She asking me what's the point for them to drive 1,500 

 13 mile to talk to me on the phone, so we can talk from 

 14 here.  

 15 It's just the first visit was painful 

 16 enough to say did I want my family to go through this.  

 17 I'm thinking myself how this will affect my children 

 18 and shape them and what's kind of memory they will 

 19 carry.  

 20 I told her was not a visit, it was kind of 

 21 torture.  

 22 There is a guy just had a visit, he is 

 23 coming back to the cell, crying, crying, crying.  I 

 24 said what's wrong, what's wrong.  He said his son I 

 25 think he told me, he's three years, he says every five 
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  1 minute he knock the door, 'police, police, that is my 

  2 daddy.  Let me go there.  Let me go there.'  And he 

  3 keeps crying.  And he spend all the day, make 

  4 everybody cry.  So it was not really visit.  But that 

  5 was the visit.

  6 Q So I understand that your whole family came 

  7 out that one time.  Is it --

  8 A I believe they came more than one time.  

  9 But how many time I don't remember.

 10 Q Do you remember them coming out a second 

 11 time when you were at the Terre Haute CMU?

 12 A I believe they came.

 13 Q And I just want to know, it's kind of yes 

 14 or no questions, did you have a specific memory that 

 15 your entire family came to see you after that one 

 16 particular visit you've been discussing?

 17 A I'll have to say no.

 18 Q Did your wife come see you other than the 

 19 one time when your entire family came out?

 20 A If she came, they all came together.

 21 Q Okay.  

 22 A And I believe they came.  They came more 

 23 than one time.

 24 Q But you can only remember one specific 

 25 time?
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